
REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
 COMMITTEE MEETING

AUG. 20, 2020 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY  
REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE or 

 **SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 
TELECONFERENCE 

Call In Phone Number: (321) 442-0127
PIN Number: 349120021# 

2:00 p.m., Thursday, August 20, 2020 

The Board of Commissioners will convene for a Committee, or Special Board meeting, by teleconference, for discussion on the                                     
following matters: 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
1. The Board of Commissioners or its Committee may hold a closed meeting pursuant to Texas                           

Government Code § 551.071-076 for consultation concerning attorney-client matters, real estate,               
litigation, personnel, and security matters. The Board or Committee reserves the right to enter into                           
closed meeting at any time, during the course of the meeting.

PUBLIC COMMENT 
2. Public Comment - Citizens are provided three minutes each to speak to any agenda items. Citizens                             

wishing to speak to items posted on the agenda should access Phone Number: (321) 442-0127 and                             
enter PIN Number: 349120021#, prior to 2:00 p.m.

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
3. Introduction and purpose of Committee (Vice Chair Jessica Weaver)

4. Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization (DSNR) Team Introductions and Organization                 
Chart  (Timothy E. Alcott, Chief Legal and Real Estate Officer)

5. Current development projects and timeline (Timothy E. Alcott, Chief Legal and Real Estate Officer;                         
Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization)

6. Development tools and strategies (Timothy E. Alcott, Chief Legal and Real Estate Officer; Lorraine                         
Robles, Director of Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization)

7. Finalize Real Estate Development Policy (Timothy E. Alcott, Chief Legal and Real Estate Officer and                           
Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization)

Page 2 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INDIVIDUAL ITEM FOR CONSIDERATION 
8. Consideration and appropriate action regarding Resolution 6069, authorizing the San Antonio                   

Housing Facility Corporation to approve a resolution to issue a letter of credit in connection with the                               
permanent financing of the Tampico Apartments project (Timothy E. Alcott, Chief Legal and Real                         
Estate Officer; Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization)

REFERENCE MATERIALS 
● Proposed Real Estate Development Policy
● Maps of current and planned investments
● Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force Report
● CoSA Affordable Housing Target Goals Presentation

9. Adjournment

*Note: Whenever the Texas Open Meetings Act (Section 551.001 et seq. of the Texas Government Code) provides for a closed meeting in matters                                             
concerning legal advice, real estate, contracts, personnel matters, or security issues, the Board may find a closed meeting to be necessary. For                                           
convenience of the citizens interested in an item preceded by an asterisk, notice is given that a closed meeting is contemplated. However, the                                             
Board reserves the right to go into a closed meeting on any other item, whether it has an asterisk, when the Board determines there is a need                                                     
and a closed meeting is permitted.
**Note: If a quorum of the Board of Commissioners attends the Committee Meeting, this meeting becomes a Special Meeting of the Board, but no                                               
Board action will be taken other than recommendations to the full Board, unless the full Board is present. 

Page 3 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Development Services
Timothy Alcott, Chief Legal and Real Estate Officer

Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and 
Neighborhood Revitalization

Page 4 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
2

Page 5 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

3

UNDER CONSTRUCTION

Est Closing Income Mix

Project Name Developer Date TotalDevCost
# 

Units 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 120% Market

Closing or Closed

1604 Flats NRP Closed $56,663,651 324 33 0 224 67 0

Tampico Mission DG Closed $33,392,549 200 9 10 18 70 20 9 64

Trader Flats NRP Closed $56,012,579 324 33 0 224 67 0

Artisan at Ruiz Franklin Closed $21,165,791 102 11 41 50 0 0

Majestic Ranch Hogan Closed $46,084,260 288 0 0 288 0 0

Culebra Crossing Lynd Closed $50,123,889 327 0 0 0 164 163

Mira Vista Hogan Closed $45,296,164 312 0 0 312 0 0

Total $308,738,883 1877 86 10 59 1168 20 307 227

Page 6 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

4

PRE-DEVELOPMENT

Est Closing Income Mix

Project Name Developer Date TotalDevCost
# 

Units 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 120% Market

Board Has Approved

Alazan Lofts NRP 8/2020 $18,521,959 88 8 32 40 0 8

100 Labor Franklin 9/2020 $52,415,352 213 27 17 0 0 169

Old Pearsall Flats Streamline Pending Bond Allocation $52,501,266 348 34 26 20 200 68 0 0

Horizon Pointe Streamline Pending Bond Allocation $54,744,654 330 20 35 106 0 151 0 0

Kitty Hawk Flats NRP Pending Bond Allocation $42,640,230 212 22 0 135 55 0

St. John's Square Weal
Pending new bond 

reservation $71,547,459 252 0 54 0 0 198

Alazan Courts Phase I NRP Pending $53,037,920 324 33 0 225 66 0

Alazan Courts Phase II NRP Pending $62,292,690 324 33 0 225 66 0

Page 7 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

5

PRE-DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Est Closing Income Mix

Project Name Developer Date TotalDevCost
# 

Units 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 120% Market

Victoria Courts Midrise Catellus Pending TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD
Victoria Courts 
Townhomes Catellus Pending TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

Artisan at Springview Franklin Pending $43,256,221 234 24 0 210 0 0

Buckhorn NRP Pending Bond Allocation $56,695,627 324 33 129 162

Copernicus NRP Pending Bond Allocation $55,202,200 324 33 129 162

Watson NRP Pending Bond Allocation $56,223,169 345 35 137 172

Total $548,141,436 3017 166 61 180 1096 219 582 694

Page 8 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

6

UNDER CONSIDERATION

Est Closing Income Mix

Project Name Developer Date TotalDevCost # Units 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 120% Market

Pipeline

Somerset Ranch Poppoon Pending Board Approval $56,048,000 348 35 0 313 0 0

The Granada Mission DG Pending Board Approval 249 176 TBD TBD TBD TBD

Flores Victor Miramontes Pending Board Approval 400 40 0 0 200 160

Wurzbach Parkway Lynd Pending Board Approval $53,543,660 350 0 0 35 140 175

Josephine Lynd Pending Board Approval $58,289,423 259 0 0 26 103 129

Potranco Lynd Pending Board Approval $43,041,525 312 0 0 32 124 156

Landmark Lynd Pending Board Approval $67,944,034 360 0 0 36 144 180

Culebra Development
Cesar Chavez 

Foundation Pending Board Approval

Total $278,866,642 2278 251 0 442 711 800

Grand Total $1,135,746,961 12,367 790 142 527 5,010 478 2,489 0 2,819
Page 9 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

7

BOARD MEETING TIMELINE

Future Developments Committee Board

Alazan Lofts - June

100 Labor - June

Villa de Fortuna* - July

Palm Lake* - July

Sunflower* - July

Artisan at Springview - July

Watson - August

Josephine - August

Buckhorn - August

Copernicus - August

St. John's Square - August

Kitty Hawk Flats September October

Page 10 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

8

BOARD MEETING TIMELINE (continued)

Horizon Pointe September October

Victoria Commons Masterplan October November

Wurzbach Parkway November December

Potranco November December

Landmark November December

Old Pearsall Flats December January

The Granada December January

Somerset Ranch TBD TBD

Flores (Villa Hermosa) TBD TBD

Alazan Courts Phase I TBD TBD

Alazan Courts Phase II TBD TBD

Culebra Development TBD TBD

Future Developments Committee Board

Page 11 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

99% Tax Credit Deals 4% Tax Credit/Bond Deals
Equity covers 75% to 80% of the total development costs 30% is covered by equity

Only 20% to 25% debt is needed to fund the project 70% of total development cost is covered by hard/soft debt
Higher price per tax credit Lower price per tax credit compared to 9%

Debt interest rate varies with market Debt interest rate varies with market
15-30 year Affordability Compliance Period 15-30 year Affordability Compliance Period

SAHA may be required to add equity into the deal (ex: Land, SAHA funds)
SAHA may be required to add equity into the deal (ex: Land, SAHA 

funds)
Highly Competitive; Difficult to obtain Bonds more readily available, but must get in line

Flexible closing period; however, must meet "placed in service date," which is 
the end of the second calendar year following the year in which the allocation 

was made
180 days from bond reservation the project must close

HUD 221(d)(4) Deals
Provides a 90% Loan to Value (LTV) for subsidized properties or up to 87% LTV for affordable properties

Non-recourse loan-developers do not have to sign a personal guarantee for the loan
Low Fixed Rate loan, so the interest rate will not go up or down, during the term of the loan

A maximum term of 40 years (43 including construction)
Flexible loan sizing (4 million minimum, no maximum)

Can be paired with LIHTC program for affordable properties
8 to 10 months HUD process for financial closing

TOOLS - FINANCING OPTIONS

Page 12 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

10
9% Tax Credit Deals 4% Tax Credit/ Bond Deals
25% of Developer Fee 2% of Bond Fees minus legal fees

50% of Cash Flow 25% of Developer Fee
ROFR after 15 years 50% of Cash Flow

SAHA may be required to add equity into the deal (ex: Land, SAHA funds) ROFR after 15 years
Any deferred developer fee would be paid before cash flow split SAHA may be required to add equity into the deal (ex: Land, SAHA funds)

Traditionally, these deals allow for the most affordable/deeply affordable 
units, as there is little to no hard debt Any deferred developer fee would be paid before cash flow split

Traditionally most or all of the units are affordable and some with deeper 
affordability

Typically, 100% of the units are income average to 60% AMI and below (can 
have market rate units also)

Bonds and tax credits make up shortfall in revenue from affordable units

STRATEGIES - SAHA DEAL TERMS

Page 13 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

11
PFC Deals (HUD 221 (d)(4) loan)

$250,000 Upfront fee
$25,000 Annual Fee over 5 years

25% of sale proceeds after 5 years plus 25% of the net income after first sale
Traditionally, SAHA is not required to provide equity

SAHA does not receive cash flow, during first 5 years
For each new partnership, SAHA is entitled to upfront/annual fees and 25% of increase in value from the sale proceeds

Traditionally, less deeply affordable units and more market rate units
50% of the Units are at 80% AMI and below to achieve tax exemption based on a family size of four ($72,000)

No tax credits or bonds to fill shortfall of lower rents from affordable units

SAHA DEAL TERMS (continued)

Page 14 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

QUESTIONS?

Page 15 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Policy Title: Affordable Housing Preservation and Expansion 

Effective Date: July 2, 2020 

I. Statement of Purpose

Intent 

The intent of this Affordable Housing Preservation and Expansion Policy is to guide                         
agency decisions regarding the preservation of existing affordable housing stock, and                     
the expansion of affordable housing supply in the San Antonio area. Such decisions                         
include, but are not limited, to location, quantity, distribution, quality, timing, financing,                       
and design. This policy impacts all San Antonio Housing Authority (SAHA) programs and                         
portfolios. 

Assumptions and Rationale 

SAHA recognizes the significant unmet need for quality housing affordable to lower                       
income individuals and families in San Antonio. We believe housing can be a catalyst                           
for economic development and community vibrancy.   

Relationship of this Policy to Agency Strategic Plan and Theory of Change 

This Affordable Housing Preservation and Expansion Policy provides specific guidance                   
regarding how the agency will achieve Strategic Plan outcomes related to housing                       
preservation and expansion.   

Supply: A key outcome listed in the agency’s theory of change is “2.1 A supply of                               
affordable, quality units exists in sufficient quantities.” Sufficient supply is a direct                       
precondition to ensuring that “2.2 San Antonio area residents live in quality affordable                         
homes.” The question of sufficient supply is foundational to nearly every other outcome                         
identified in the theory of change.  

Neighborhood characteristics: The theory of change includes various outcome                 
statements related to neighborhood quality, including “3.3 San Antonio area residents                     
live in neighborhoods that are safe communities where people know and respect each                         
other”, “3.4 San Antonio area residents live in neighborhoods that meet their social                         
needs”, and “3.2 San Antonio area residents are actively engaged and feel included.” 

Guiding Principles 

● Work actively to preserve and expand quality affordable housing to fill this need
● Pursue rehabilitation, acquisition, new construction, or asset repositioning             

projects that address unmet community need.
● Design communities and buildings to improve clients’ quality of life, help                   

residents feel safe and healthy, and support their needs for stability, community,                     
accomplishment, individual growth, and leadership.

Page 16 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



● Help catalyze economic development through the creation of financially, socially,                   
and environmentally inclusive communities that are healthy and sustainable 

● Transparently plan and collaborate with residents and other key public, private,                     
and non-profit stakeholders at the local, state and federal level. 

 

Outcome Metrics and Targets 

The agency has identified metrics and set targets in order to track progress toward                           
priority outcomes, as identified in the agency’s strategic plan. The intent of this policy is                             
to achieve the outcomes and targets as detailed in the relevant strategic plan section(s).  

Key Affordable Housing Preservation and Expansion Strategies 

SAHA employs two groups of strategies simultaneously to ensure low-income residents                     
have access to affordable housing units: place-based strategies, and mobility strategies.   

Generally, place-based strategies seek to improve the quality of life of low-income                       
households in neighborhoods where they currently live, by pursuing coordinated                   
revitalization activities. The prime example of this approach is the Choice                     
Neighborhood Initiative. Elements include: 

● Cross-sector collaboration (education, law-enforcement, workforce development,           
economic development, etc.) 

● Targeted socioeconomic support for existing residents to support their ability to                     
stay in neighborhood 

● Emphasis on community or neighborhood-scale revitalization, with plans               
developed in coordination with stakeholders 

● Catalytic redevelopment of public housing into mixed-income and               
service-enriched communities 

● Preservation of existing affordable housing stock in revitalization areas, to guard                     
against future displacement 

● To protect against displacement, SAHA has the goal of not unilaterally raising                       
rents by more than 5% per year. 

Mobility strategies facilitate the movement of low-income households to neighborhoods                   
with recognized pathways to opportunity and/or demonstrated positive impact on life                     
outcomes. The Housing Choice Voucher program (Section 8) was created by HUD as a                           
mobility program. Elements of mobility strategies include: 

● Adjusting the value of voucher subsidy to better match neighborhood market                     
conditions (SAFMR) 

● Construction of affordable housing units in areas with low existing supply and/or                       
low affordability 

● Preservation of existing affordable housing stock in areas with otherwise low                     
affordability  

● Acquisition of housing projects or land to increase affordability options in more                       
expensive areas  

Page 17 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



● Targeted mobility counseling for residents who seek to move 
  

II. Affordable Housing Preservation and Expansion Criteria  

All SAHA affordable housing preservation and expansion activities must be consistent                     
with the guiding principles, targeted outcomes, and strategies articulated in the                     
‘Statement of Purpose’ section of this policy document. In addition, such activities must                         
comply with key criteria described below by topic:  

Project Need 

SAHA recognizes the significant unmet need for quality housing affordable to lower                       
income individuals and families in San Antonio. SAHA is primarily focused on                       
addressing this unmet need that is not being adequately addressed by the private                         
market and where therefore a government subsidy is needed. 

● SAHA will lead (by building or acquiring) or support projects (for capital                       
generation) which fulfill a community need for affordable housing 

● Community need must be determined and documented based on objective                   
market analysis which includes SAHA’s waiting lists information  

 

Project Location Selection 

Recognizing that the location of an affordable housing preservation or expansion                     
project can be a major driver of the long term success of the project and the                               
socioeconomic opportunities and challenges available to residents, SAHA will: 

● Place-based projects 
○ Pursue acquisition and/or partnership opportunities synergistic with             

coordinated community initiatives 
○ Coordinate development projects with transportation and other             

infrastructure improvement projects, education, workforce development           
and employment initiatives, and other community-specific           
neighborhood-scale efforts 

● Mobility-based projects 
○ Prioritize locations with relatively low numbers and rates of existing                   

affordable housing units 
○ Prioritize locations with recognized pathways to opportunity and/or               

demonstrated positive impact on life outcomes 
○ Focus on a project’s accessibility to education, job training, employment                   

opportunities, and location amenities (e.g., recreation, health, retail,               
spiritual) 

○ Link development projects to existing transportation and employment               
opportunities 

Page 18 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



● Other considerations 
○ Pursue development projects that will score well under the Qualified                   

Allocation Plan to receive tax credit financing 
○ Determine if the real estate project supports SAHA’s goals of providing                     

more affordable housing 
○ Will the development either directly or indirectly expand or preserve the                     

supply of affordable housing 
● Consideration of the City of San Antonio Housing goals 

 

III. Project Principles  

The following principles apply to all development projects that SAHA undertakes.  

Housing Development and Redevelopment 

SAHA is committed to redeveloping existing housing projects as well as developing                       
new projects consistent with the following goals: 

● We will develop mixed income communities that encourage socioeconomic                 
integration. 

● Communities will be developed with consideration of the City of San Antonio’s                       
housing and preservation goals. 

● SAHA will develop communities that are financially viable and self-sustaining. 
● SAHA will aspire to provide 10% of the units as affordable for community                         

members earning below 30% area median income.   
● SAHA will aspire to replace all removed public housing units with a unit or                           

housing choice voucher affordable at an equivalent level. Replacement units                   
may be located at other sites. 

● We will aspire to focus on creating family and elderly/disabled units and                       
supportive housing for special needs populations. 

● SAHA will create housing developments that will create financial resources so                     
that deeply affordable housing may be created and maintained at that location or                         
others. 

Building Design, Standards, and Compliance 

SAHA is a property manager, owner, and/or developer with a long term community                         
focused mission. Understanding that government building codes, and developer or                   
sub-contractor building and construction standards may be lacking or inadequate given                     
this long term property management and maintenance perspective: 

● SAHA shall review the construction and materials standards to achieve long term                       
and cost efficient management, and maintenance of our communities 

Page 19 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



● All development and redevelopment projects must build to SAHA’s construction                   
and materials standards and aspire to reach “Build San Antonio Green”                     
standards  

● Development design must incorporate sustainable concepts and practices 
● All SAHA developments will adopt a smoke-free policy 

Invest to preserve and extend the useful life of properties 

Given the wide gap between community need and actual affordable housing supply,                       
SAHA will focus on investing prudently to both preserve and extend the useful life of its                               
properties. As a result, 

● Property improvements should ensure housing quality, livability standards, and                 
enhance marketability 

● SAHA will be proactive in comprehensive rehabilitation planning and                 
implementation (e.g., total building vs. system by system approach) 

Long Term Financial and Planning Considerations 

SAHA will be proactive in developing and implementing a realistic long term financial                         
plan for each project so that San Antonio’s affordable housing stock is maximized. 

● All new development, redevelopment, refinancing, acquisition, and liquidation               
projects and pro-forma must include an analysis and/or plan for maintenance,                     
replacement, compliance, and funding 

○ All projects must include a realistic long term financial projection, including                     
the construction period, lease out period, and post-compliance period.                 
Rent and lease out/vacancy assumptions must incorporate an analysis of                   
competing current and planned projects in the neighborhood 

○ SAHA will develop its own underwriting criteria and standard                 
management and operating agreements  

○ All projects must meet SAHA’s general underwriting criteria and standard                   
agreements 

● SAHA will value the economic contribution of its tax exempt status and negotiate                         
project economics commensurate with this value contribution 

● SAHA will not allow other housing authorities to do business in Bexar County to                           
ensure the proceeds of these transactions benefit the local community. We also                       
recognize the importance of creating and maintaining deal terms that are most                       
beneficial to SAHA and not be undercut by other agencies. 

● Assets which are not performing well or land without significant development                     
potential will be considered for liquidation 

● Revenues generated from these activities will be reinvested into preserving or                     
expanding affordable housing 

Page 20 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Integrated approach to socioeconomic development 

In order to support resident and community socioeconomic development, we will: 

● Focus on developing properties where key amenities are accessible e.g.,                   
schools, banking, grocery shopping, employers, and public transportation 

● Maximize Section 3 resident employment opportunities, both short term and long                     
term 

● Increase business activities with small, minority owned, local, and women owned                     
businesses 

● Utilize SAHA’s ‘Moving to Work’ designation to expand housing options and                     
create economic opportunities so residents can achieve economic self                 
sufficiency 

● Partner with residents as well as public, non-profit, and for-profit organizations to                       
provide educational resources, job training, and supportive services to help                   
families become economically stable 

● Work together with economic development organizations to realize emerging                 
economic development opportunities by creating mixed use and mixed income                   
communities   

Planning with Residents and Community Stakeholders 

Residents and community members may be offered the opportunity to contribute                     
meaningfully in advance of the design of any planned projects and their input shall be                             
incorporated. 

Community engagement works best where it is an ongoing cumulative process                     
enabling relationships and trust to build and strengthen over time. Engagement events                       
should be planned and designed with this in mind and aim to contribute to the overall                               
aims of the engagement process. This would include meetings with the residents,                       
neighborhood associations, local groups, and elected representatives. Community or                 
voluntary groups may want to participate at a range of levels – from providing advice as                               
to the needs of the community, designing a development that reflects the community,                         
and from undertaking some aspects of the engagement to delivering projects to meet                         
some of the outcomes. 
 

IV. Implementation and Monitoring 

This policy shall be followed for each eligible affordable housing preservation and                       
expansion initiative or transaction SAHA undertakes. 

Policy compliance is the primary responsibility of the Development Services and                     
Neighborhood Revitalization team, but is also the responsibility of the following SAHA                       
teams: Asset Management, Section 8, Public Housing Property Management, Finance                   
and Accounting, Beacon Communities and Community Development Initiatives. A policy                   

Page 21 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



exception must be requested by staff and granted by the Board of Commissioners in all                             
relevant cases. 
 

V.  Definitions: 

● BOC – SAHA Board of Commissioners 
● DSNR – SAHA Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization team 
● HQS – HUD Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program regulations set forth basic                       

housing quality standards (HQS) which all units must meet before assistance can                       
be paid on behalf of a family and at least annually throughout the term of the                               
assisted tenancy. HQS define "standard housing" and establish the minimum                   
criteria for the health and safety of program participants.  

● Place Based Initiatives - Place-based policies leverage investments by focusing                   
resources in targeted places and drawing on the compounding effect of                     
well-coordinated action. Effective place-based policies can influence how rural                 
and metropolitan areas develop, how well they function as places to live, work,                         
operate a business, preserve heritage, and more 

● REAC - Real Estate Assessment Center 
● Section 3 – A means by which HUD fosters local economic development,                       

neighborhood economic improvement, and individual self-sufficiency. Section 3               
is the legal basis for providing jobs for residents and awarding contracts to                         
businesses in areas receiving certain types of HUD financial assistance. Under                     
Section 3 of the HUD Act of 1968, wherever HUD financial assistance is                         
expended for housing or community development, to the greatest extent                   
feasible, economic opportunities will be given to Section 3 residents and                     
businesses in that area. 

● TDHCA - Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs 

Page 22 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY August 20, 2020 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Real Estate Development Committee 

 
RESOLUTION 6069, AUTHORIZING THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING FACILITY CORPORATION                 
TO APPROVE A RESOLUTION TO ISSUE A LETTER OF CREDIT IN CONNECTION WITH THE                           
PERMANENT FINANCING OF THE TAMPICO APARTMENTS PROJECT 

 
 

____________________________ ________________________________ 
David Nisivoccia Timothy E. Alcott 
President and CEO Chief Legal and Real Estate Officer 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and appropriate action regarding Resolution 6069, authorizing the San Antonio                     
Housing Facility Corporation (SAHFC) to approve a resolution to issue a letter of credit in                             
connection with the permanent financing of the Tampico Apartments Project (Project). 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None at this time. However, by authorizing us to issue the Letter of Credit, the Project will save                                   
thousands of dollars in out-of-pocket expenditures. Also, the interest payable in connection with                         
the Letter of Credit will be paid from the Developer’s portion of the development fee. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Project is a 200-unit project under construction by the Mission Development Group                         
(Developer) and located on the near west side of San Antonio at 210 Tampico Street. Of the 200                                   
units, 136 will be low income housing tax credit units serving families whose incomes average                             
60% of area median income and 64 units will be market.  
 
The Project was previously approved by the Board. Pursuant to that approval, the Las Varas                             
Public Facility Corporation issued tax-exempt bonds to and entered into a construction loan                         
transaction (IBC Loan) with the International Bank of Commerce, on June 30, 2020. Upon                           
satisfaction of certain conditions for conversion of the IBC Loan from construction to permanent                           
financing, the IBC Loan will convert from the construction phase to the permanent phase                           
(Permanent Financing), Bellwether Enterprise Real Estate Capital, LLC (Bellwether) will purchase                     
the Permanent Financing and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) will                         
purchase the Permanent Financing from Bellwether. In connection with Freddie Mac’s                     
commitment to purchase the Permanent Financing, the Partnership must put up cash or a letter of                               
credit to secure a commitment fee equal to $463,400. In the event the project converts and                               
Freddie Mac makes the permanent loan, the commitment fee will not be paid and the cash or                                 
letter of credit will be returned. In this case, the Developer will put up one-half of the fee in cash                                       
and SAHFC will put up the Letter of Credit for one-half. The Letter of Credit will earn 7% for                                     
approximately two years. The Developer has agreed that the interest payable in connection with                           
the Letter of Credit will be paid from the Developer’s portion of the development fee. 
 
The attached Resolution authorizes SAHFC to approve a Resolution authorizing the issuance of                         
the Letter of Credit in the amount of $231,700.00 in favor of Freddie Mac, in satisfaction of the                                   

 
 

Page 23 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY August 20, 2020 

commitment fee due from Tampico Apartments, LP (Partnership) in connection with the                       
Permanent Financing for the Project. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS: 
Strategically expand the supply of affordable housing.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 6069   
Resolution 20FAC-08-20 
Map 
 

 
 

Page 24 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



 
CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 6069 

TAMPICO APARTMENTS 
 

The undersigned officer of the San Antonio Housing Authority, a Texas housing authority                         
created pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas (SAHA) hereby certifies as follows: 

1. In accordance with its bylaws, the Board of Commissioners of SAHA (Board) held a                           
meeting on September 10, 2020 (Meeting) of the duly constituted officers and members of the                             
Board, at which a duly constituted quorum was present. Whereupon among other business                         
transacted at the Meeting, a written 

 
RESOLUTION 6069, AUTHORIZING THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING FACILITY               
CORPORATION TO APPROVE A RESOLUTION TO ISSUE A LETTER OF CREDIT                     
IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERMANENT FINANCING OF THE TAMPICO                 
APARTMENTS PROJECT  

Resolution was duly introduced for the consideration of the Board and discussed. It was                           
then duly moved and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, said                             
motion, carrying with it the adoption of the Resolution, prevailed and carried by a majority vote of                                 
the Board. 

2. A true, full, and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the Meeting is attached                             
to and follows this Certificate; the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board’s minutes of                               
the Meeting; each of the officers and members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified                               
officially and personally, in advance, of the time, place, and purpose of the Meeting; and the                               
Meeting was held and conducted in accordance with the Bylaws of SAHA. 
 

SIGNED AND SEALED this 10th day of September 2020. 

 
___________________  
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

 

 

Page 25 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



 

San Antonio Housing Authority  
Resolution 6069 

 
RESOLUTION 6069, AUTHORIZING THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING FACILITY CORPORATION                 
TO APPROVE A RESOLUTION TO ISSUE A LETTER OF CREDIT IN CONNECTION WITH THE                           
PERMANENT FINANCING OF THE TAMPICO APARTMENTS PROJECT 
 
WHEREAS, one of the San Antonio Housing Authority’s strategic goals is to expand the supply of                               
affordable housing; and 

WHEREAS, in furtherance of that goal, the Board of Commissioners of SAHA authorized the                           
Tampico Apartments Project (Project), including the execution of all documentation necessary to                       
carry out the Project; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the financing for the Project, the Las Varas Public Facility                           
Corporation issued tax-exempt bonds and entered into a construction loan transaction with the                         
International Bank of Commerce (IBC Loan); and 

WHEREAS, the IBC Loan will convert from the construction phase to the permanent phase                           
(Permanent Financing), Bellwether Enterprise Real Estate Capital, LLC (Bellwether) will purchase                     
the Permanent Financing and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) will                         
purchase the Permanent Financing from Bellwether; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with its commitment to purchase the Permanent Financing, Freddie                       
Mac requires the Project to deposit cash or a letter of credit to secure a commitment fee                                 
(Commitment Fee); and 

WHEREAS, it is proposed that the San Antonio Housing Facility Corporation (SAHFC) issue a                           
letter of credit in favor of Freddie Mac in partial satisfaction of the Commitment Fee (Letter of                                 
Credit); and 

WHEREAS, SAHFC will pass a resolution authorizing the actions needed to further carry out the                             
Project, including the issuance of the Letter of Credit. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of San Antonio Housing                           
Authority: 

1) Approve Resolution 6069, authorizing the San Antonio Housing Facility Corporation                   
(SAHFC) to approve a resolution to issue a letter of credit in connection with the                             
permanent financing of the Tampico Apartments Project (Project). 

 
2) Approve Resolution 20FAC-08-20 of SAHFC approving the issuance of the Letter of                       

Credit and authorizing the actions necessary therefore and the negotiation of the terms of                           
therefore. 
 

3) Authorize the Present and CEO, or designee, to execute all necessary documents                       
associated therewith. 

 
 

 

Page 26 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Passed and approved on the 10th day of September 2020. 

________________________________ 
Ana M. “Cha” Guzman 
Chair, Board of Commissioners 

Attested and approved as to form: 

________________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 27 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 20FAC-08-20 
TAMPICO APARTMENTS 

The undersigned officer of the San Antonio Housing Facility Corporation, a Texas                       
nonprofit corporation created pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas (SAHFC) hereby certifies                             
as follows: 

1. In accordance with its bylaws, the Board of Directors of SAHFC (Board) held a                         
meeting on September 10, 2020, (Meeting) of the duly constituted officers and members of the                             
Board, at which a duly constituted quorum was present. Whereupon among other business                         
transacted at the Meeting, a written 

RESOLUTION 20FAC-08-20, AUTHORIZING THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING             
FACILITY CORPORATION TO APPROVE A RESOLUTION TO ISSUE A LETTER                   
OF CREDIT IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERMANENT FINANCING OF THE                   
TAMPICO APARTMENTS PROJECT 

Resolution was duly introduced for the consideration of the Board and discussed. It was                           
then duly moved and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, said                             
motion, carrying with it the adoption of the Resolution, prevailed and carried by a majority vote of                                 
the Board. 

2. A true, full, and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the Meeting is attached                           
to and follows this Certificate; the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board’s minutes of                               
the Meeting; each of the officers and members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified                               
officially and personally, in advance, of the time, place, and purpose of the Meeting; and the                               
Meeting was held and conducted in accordance with the Bylaws of SAHFC. 

SIGNED AND SEALED this 10th day of September 2020. 

___________________
David Nisivoccia 
Secretary/Treasurer 

Page 28 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



San Antonio Housing Facility Corporation 
Resolution 20FAC-08-20 

 
RESOLUTION 20FAC-08-20, AUTHORIZING THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING FACILITY               
CORPORATION TO APPROVE A RESOLUTION TO ISSUE A LETTER OF CREDIT IN                       
CONNECTION WITH THE PERMANENT FINANCING OF THE TAMPICO APARTMENTS                 
PROJECT 
 
WHEREAS, Tampico Apartments, LP, a Texas limited partnership (Partnership), and SAHA                     
Tampico GP, LLC, a Texas limited liability company and its general partner, have been formed to                               
acquire and construct a 200-unit multifamily housing facility (Housing Facility) to be located at 210                             
Tampico, San Antonio, Texas (Land, together with the Housing Facility, the Project); and 
 
WHEREAS, Las Varas Public Facility Corporation (Issuer) issued its Multifamily Housing                     
Governmental Note (Tampico Apartments) Series 2020 (Note) to finance the Project; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the financing, the Partnership sold the Notes to and entered into a                               
construction loan transaction with International Bank of Commerce (IBC Loan); and 

WHEREAS, upon satisfaction of certain conditions for conversion of the IBC Loan from                         
construction to permanent financing, the IBC Loan will convert from the construction phase to the                             
permanent phase (Permanent Financing), and Bellwether Enterprise Real Estate Capital, LLC,                     
(Bellwether) will purchase the Permanent Financing; and 

WHEREAS, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, a shareholder-owned               
government-sponsored enterprise organized and existing under the laws of the United States of                         
America (Freddie Mac) has issued a commitment (Commitment) to the Partnership pursuant to                         
which Freddie Mac will purchase the Permanent Financing from Bellwether, as Freddie Mac                         
Servicer, which will continue to serve as the servicer for the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Commitment, the Partnership will be required to pay a                           
commitment fee equal to $463,400.00 (Commitment Fee); and 

WHEREAS, it is proposed that the SAHFC issue a letter of credit in favor of Freddie Mac in partial                                     
satisfaction of the Commitment Fee (Letter of Credit); and 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the public interest and to the benefit of the                                   
citizens and residents of San Antonio for the various entities to enter into the transactions                             
described above so that the Partnership may construct the Project; and 

WHEREAS, this Board of Directors has reviewed the foregoing and determined that the action                           
herein authorized is in furtherance of the public purposes of SAHFC. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the San Antonio Housing                             
Facility Corporation hereby:  
 

Section 1. The Letter of Credit and any documents evidencing the same, are hereby                       
authorized and approved. 

 
Page 29 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Section 2. The President, any Vice President, the Secretary, the Treasurer, any                   
Assistant Secretary, or any of them, are hereby authorized to execute any and all documentation                             
required for Letter of Credit. 

Section 3. The President, any Vice President, the Secretary, the Treasurer, and any                     
Assistant Secretary, or any of them, and, if required by the form of the document, the Secretary                                 
and any Assistant Secretary, or any of them, of SAHFC are authorized and directed to modify,                               
execute and deliver any of the documents to be signed by or consented to by SAHFC, and any                                   
and all certificates and other instruments necessary to carry out the intent thereof and hereof.                             
The President, any Vice President, the Secretary, the Treasurer, any Assistant Secretary, or any of                             
them, are authorized to negotiate and approve such changes in, or additions to, the terms of any                                 
of the documents, including amendments, renewals, and extensions, as such officers shall deem                         
necessary or appropriate upon the advice of counsel to SAHFC, and approval of the terms of any                                 
of the documents by such officers and this Board shall be conclusively evidenced by the                             
execution and delivery of such documents. 

Section 4. The officers of this Board, or any of them, are authorized to take any and                             
all action necessary to carry out and consummate the transactions described in or contemplated                           
by the documents approved hereby or otherwise to give effect to the actions authorized hereby                             
and the intent hereof. 

Section 5. If any section, paragraph, clause, or provisions of this Resolution shall be                       
held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph,                           
clause, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

Section 6. The recitals contained in the preamble hereof are hereby found to be true,                         
and such recitals are hereby made a part of this Resolution for all purposes and are adopted as a                                     
part of the judgment and findings of the Board. 

Section 7. All resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in conflict or inconsistent with                       
any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict, and the                               
provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain controlling as to the matters resolved herein. 

Section 8. This Resolution shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the                     
laws of the State of Texas and the United States of America. 

Section 9. This Resolution shall be in force and effect from and after its passage. 

Passed and approved the 10th day of September 2020. 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Ana M. “Cha” Guzman  
Chair, Board of Directors Attested and approved as to form: 

 
_____________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
Secretary/Treasurer 

 
Page 30 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Tampico Apartments
Timothy Alcott, Chief Legal and Real Estate Officer

Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and 
Neighborhood Revitalization

Page 31 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

MAP

TAMPICO 
APARTMENTS

Page 32 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

SITE PLAN

Page 33 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@SAHAhousing

QUESTIONS?

Page 34 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



1

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Artisan at Ruiz

Majestic Ranch

Development Pipeline: Under Construction

Tampico

Trader Flats Culebra 
Crossing

Mira Vista

Council District Site Project Cost Total

1 Artisan at Ruiz $21,165,791 $21,165,791

2 1604 Lofts $56,663,651 $56,663,651

4 Trader Flats $56,012,579 $56,012,579

5 Tampico $33,392,549 $33,392,549

6 Culebra Crossing $50,123,889 $50,123,889

7 Majestic Ranch $46,084,260
$91,380,424

7 Mira Vista $45,296,164

1604 Lofts

Page 35 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



2

Development Pipeline: In Predevelopment

Council Site Cost Total
1 100 Labor $52,415,352

$123,962,811
1 St. John’s $71,547,459

1 Victoria Courts Midrise TBD
1 Victoria Courts Townhomes TBD
2 Artisan at Springview $43,256,221

$153,203,0752 Copernicus $55,202,200

2 Horizon Pointe $54,744,654

4 Pearsall Flats $52,501,266
$108,724,435

4 Watson $56,223,169

5 Alazan Lofts $18,521,959

$133,852,5695 Alazan Courts Phase I $53,037,920

5 Alazan Courts Phase II $62,292,690

7 Buckhorn $56,695,627 $56,695,627
Converse Kitty Hawk Flats $42,640,230 $42,640,230

Kitty Hawk Flats

Horizon Pointe
1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

100 Labor, Victoria Court 
Townhomes and Victoria Courts 
Midrise

St. John’s

Tampico

Buckhorn

Pearsall Flats

Artisan at Springview

Alazan 
Lofts

Horizon Pointe

Kitty Hawk

Copernicus

Watson Rd.

Alazan 
Courts I & II

Page 36 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



3

Development Pipeline: Under Discussion

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Granada

Landmark

Wurzbach Parkway

Josephine

Somerset Ranch

Flores
Potranco

Council Site Cost Total
1 Josephine $58,289,423

$58,289,4231 Granada TBD

1 Flores TBD

4 Somerset Ranch $56,048,000
$99,089,525

4 Potranco $43,041,525

6 Culebra Development TBD TBD
8 Landmark $67,944,034 $67,944,034
9 Wurzbach Parkway $53,543,660 $53,543,660

Culebra 
Development

Page 37 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Summary of investment by City Council District

Council District Total

1 $203,418,025

2 $209,866,726

4 $263,826,539

5 $167,245,118

6 $50,123,889

7 $148,076,051

8 $67,944,034

9 $53,543,660

TOTAL $1,164,044,042

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1

2

4

5

6 7

8

9

Page 38 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



SAN ANTONIO’S
HOUSING POLICY FRAMEWORK
THE CORNERSTONE OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force 
August 2018Page 39 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Page 40 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Thirty years ago, outgoing Mayor Henry Cisneros foresaw the housing crisis that is now beginning to grip cities 
across the country. He called for a comprehensive housing strategy that recognized housing as an essential 
building block for a prosperous city. That call went unanswered—until now. 

As we celebrate our Tricentennial year as one of the oldest cities in the country, San Antonio is no longer just a 
top tourist destination. It is increasingly the city that people choose to call home. According to the U.S. Census 
Bureau, last year San Antonio led population growth among all major U.S. cities. We are gaining 66 residents 
a day. Our population has surged past 1.5 million for the first time. And we expect 1 million more over the next 
25 years. 

In many ways, this growth exemplifies San Antonio’s spirit as a compassionate, diverse, and welcoming city. 
It represents exciting opportunities and unlimited potential for our community. But it also requires deliberate 
planning to ensure that we provide a high quality of life for all San Antonians, regardless of income. Cities and 
regions with higher levels of equality enjoy stronger economic growth, and are better able to support growth 
over time. Because San Antonio still faces the effects of historic socioeconomic segregation, and a looming 
housing shortfall, we must plan for a more equitable housing system today. 

I created the Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force in August 2017 because all San Antonians, regardless of income 
level, deserve opportunities to find quality affordable housing within city limits. My charge to the Task Force 
was simple: develop a framework for a comprehensive, compassionate housing strategy for our city. 

I asked for a roadmap to address the affordability gap so that an average San Antonio family can afford to buy 
a home. I urged them to provide recommendations that protect and connect neighborhoods amid our historic 
growth. Our local housing policies must align with existing public and private resources to rehabilitate existing 
housing stock that provides residents with the tools to age with dignity in their homes. But just as important—
we must address these issues in a way that creates a housing system where sustainable, affordable, quality 
housing is provided by the private sector and can be driven by the market. 

The Task Force had full autonomy to determine the process and level of community input would best 
facilitate their objective. I’m incredibly proud of the work they accomplished with full input from hundreds 
of San Antonio residents. As a result of their work, for the first time in the City’s history, City Council is finally 
making housing a core priority, so that as San Antonio grows up, San Antonians will not be priced out. Working 
together, we will ensure that San Antonio remains the place that we can all call “home”.

	
Thirty	years	ago	outgoing	Mayor	Henry	Cisneros	foresaw	the	housing	shortage	crisis	that	is	now	beginning	to	
grip	cities	across	the	country.	He	called	for	a	comprehensive	housing	strategy	that	recognized	housing	as	an	
essential	building	block	for	a	prosperous	city.	That	call	went	unanswered	–	until	now.		

As	we	celebrate	our	Tricentennial	year	as	one	of	the	oldest	cities	in	the	country,	San	Antonio	is	no	longer	just	a	
top	tourist	destination.	It	is	increasingly	becoming	the	City	that	people	choose	to	call	home.	According	to	the	
U.S.	Census	Bureau,	last	year	San	Antonio	led	population	growth	among	all	major	U.S.	cities.		We	are	gaining	
66	residents	a	day.	Our	population	has	surged	past	1.5	million	for	the	first	time.	And	we	expect	1	million	more	
over	the	next	25	years.		

In	many	ways,	this	growth	exemplifies	San	Antonio’s	spirit	as	a	compassionate,	diverse,	and	welcoming	City.	It	
represents	exciting	opportunities	and	unlimited	potential	 for	our	community.	But	 it	also	 requires	deliberate	
planning	to	ensure	that	we	provide	a	high	quality	of	life	for	all	San	Antonians,	regardless	of	income.	Cities	and	
regions	with	higher	levels	of	equality	enjoy	stronger	economic	growth,	and	are	better	able	to	support	growth	
over	time.	 	Because	San	Antonio	still	 faces	the	effects	of	historic	socioeconomic	segregation,	and	a	 looming	
housing	shortfall,	we	must	plan	for	a	more	equitable	housing	system	today.			

I	created	the	Mayor’s	Housing	Policy	Task	Force	a	year	ago	this	month	because	all	San	Antonians,	regardless	of	
income	 level,	deserve	opportunities	 to	 find	 quality	 affordable	housing	within	City	 limits.	 	My	 charge	 to	 the	
Task	Force	was	simple:	to	develop	a	framework	for	a	comprehensive,	compassionate	housing	strategy	for	our	
City.		

I	asked	for	a	roadmap	to	address	the	affordability	gap	so	that	an	average	San	Antonio	family	can	afford	to	buy	
a	home.	I	urged	them	to	provide	recommendations	that	protect	and	connect	neighborhoods	amid	our	historic	
growth.	 Our	 local	 housing	 policies	 must	 align	 existing	 public	 and	 private	 resources	 to	 rehabilitate	 existing	
housing	stock	which	provides	residents	with	the	tools	to	age	with	dignity	in	their	homes.	But	just	as	important	
—	we	must	address	these	issues	in	a	way	that	creates	a	housing	system	where	sustainable,	affordable,	quality	
housing	is	provided	by	the	private	sector	and	can	be	driven	by	the	market.		

The	 Task	 Force	 had	 full	 autonomy	 to	 determine	 what	 process	 and	 level	 of	 community	 input	 would	 best	
facilitate	their	objective.	I’m	incredibly	proud	of	the	work	they	accomplished	with	full	input	from	hundreds	of	
San	Antonio	residents.	As	a	result	of	their	work,	for	the	first	time	in	City’s	history,	City	Council	is	finally	making	
housing	 a	 core	 priority,	 so	 that	 as	 San	 Antonio	 grows	 up,	 San	 Antonians	 will	 not	 be	 priced	 out.	 Working	
together,	we	will	ensure	that	San	Antonio	remains	the	place	that	we	can	all	call	“home.”	

	

	

_______________________________	
Ron	Nirenberg	

MAYOR	Page 41 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Dear City Council: August 13, 2018

Our homes have deep emotional meaning. For many of us, our homes are the backdrop to childhood 
memories—the places we played, cried, laughed, argued, and dreamed. When things went well, our 
homes grew with us. We found stability.

We know that where you live affects your quality of life, health outcomes and your family’s future, and 
we realize that thriving, connected neighborhoods are essential to a safe, economically strong and 
resilient city. As our city continues to grow and diversify, investing in housing is imperative to achieving 
the progress we envision for our families and community. 

In prioritizing housing, San Antonio has an opportunity to improve people’s lives and advance a vision 
of prosperity for all. At the same time, we have before us the opportunity to create a model for the 
country on how to proactively address housing affordability. 

We were mindful of the Task Force’s charge and responsibility to create a comprehensive and 
compassionate housing policy framework that “allow(s) residents to live with dignity, age in place, 
rehabilitate their housing, and preserve the integrity of their neighborhoods”. Today, we are proud to 
share that we led an intentional, transparent, inclusive, and informed process, grounded in community 
and complete with bold policy recommendations.

We took into account our city’s history, read through over 20 local housing studies/reports, analyzed 
demographic, economic and market data, studied housing plans from cities all across America, and 
engaged deeply with over 500 community members over a period of 11 months. We did not limit 
ourselves to a segment of the housing market. This was a whole-system analysis for all San Antonians.

We listened and reflected on what we heard from every corner of our city, as people shared with us 
the many pressing issues affecting their lives—from the reduction in homeownership to the lack of 
affordability in rental units, from homelessness to the regulatory barriers impacting affordable housing 
construction, and from an aging housing stock to concerns over property taxes. 

Our analysis of demographic, economic, and housing conditions further affirmed what we heard from 
neighbors. The city is experiencing more severe housing insecurity and affordability challenges than 
ever before. With housing costs increasing at a much faster rate than incomes, people have no choice 
but to live far from where they work, families are displaced and destabilized, and students suffer in 
school. All of this impacts the City’s economic gain and San Antonio’s future. 

Page 42 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Housing is as essential to the economic engine of our city as water, energy and transportation. With this 
principle in mind, we identified five key actions along with a set of recommendations and implementation 
steps infused with theoretical, practical, and boots-on-the-ground thinking:  

 1. Develop a Coordinated Housing System 

 2. Increase City Investment in Housing with a 10-Year Funding Plan 

 3. Increase Affordable Housing Production, Rehabilitation and Preservation 

 4. Protect and Promote Neighborhoods 

 5. Ensure Accountability to the Public  
 
The policies along with the implementation plan that we present are actionable, impactful and will enable 
increased neighborhood resiliency and economic prosperity. 

We thank Mayor Nirenberg for the opportunity to serve our community and look forward to working with 
him, the entire City Council, City staff and all residents in implementing the recommendations. Above 
all, we owe a debt of gratitude to the many people that inspired us, that challenged us to be bold, that 
shared their personal stories, and presented innovative and practical policy solutions.

With this report, we complete our charge but recognize that the hard work of implementation has just 
begun. We now ask you, City Council, to be as bold in achieving our community’s vision of prosperity.

Our task force’s mantra of Everyone Needs A Place To Call Home is a worthy goal to establish in this our 
Tricentennial Year!

Yours Respectfully,

Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force

Jim Bailey

María Antonietta Berriozábal

Gene Dawson, Jr.

Noah Garcia

Lourdes Castro Ramírez, Chair

Page 43 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



MAYOR

The Honorable Ron Nirenberg

CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS

Roberto C. Treviño, District 1

William “Cruz” Shaw, District 2

Rebecca J. Viagran, District 3

Rey Saldaña, District 4

Shirley Gonzales, District 5

Greg Brockhouse, District 6

Ana Sandoval, District 7

Manny Pelaez, District 8

John Courage, District 9

Clayton Perry, District 10

TECHNICAL WORKING GROUP MEMBERS

SNP = Special Needs Populations

FF = Funding & Finance

RBSA = Removing Barriers to Supply and Affordability

SERN = Stable, Equitable & Resilient Neighborhoods

CTHS = Coordinated & Transparent Housing System 

Scott Ackerson, Health Management Assoc. (SNP)

Stephen Amberg, Mahncke Park NA (RBSA)

Sheila Anderson, NeighborWorks (CTHS)

Rhonda Andrew, UHS/Ryan White (SNP)

Jordana Barton, Dallas Federal Reserve - 
San Antonio Branch (FF)

Ed Berlanga, McMilin Homes / GSABA (RBSA)

Louis Bernardy, McCormack Baron Salazar (RBSA)

Rebecca Brune, San Antonio Area Foundation (RBSA)

Jelynne Burley, Center for Health Care Services (SNP)

Francesca Caballero, SAHA Board Commissioner (CTHS)

Juan Cano, Cano Development (RBSA)

Christina Castaño-Bradshaw, VIA (RBSA)

Mohammed Choudhury, SAISD (SERN)

Amy Contreras, Ernst & Young (FF)

Erlinda Cortez, Siebert Brandford Shank & Co. LLC (FF)

Margaret Costantino, Center for Refugee Services (SNP)

Molly Cox, SA2020 (CTHS)

Lee Darnold, Pulte/Centex (RBSA)

Christine Drennon, Ph.D., Trinity University (SERN)

Victoria Dries Keeler, Apartment Association (RBSA)

Robert Flores, America GI Forum (SNP)

We are grateful to the many residents who actively participated in the Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force 
community and public input meetings, and sincerely thank the following people for contributing to this work:

MAYOR’S HOUSING POLICY TASK FORCE

Lourdes Castro Ramírez, MHPTF Chair 
President, University Health System Foundation

Jim Bailey, AIA 
Associate Principal, Alamo Architects

María Antonietta Berriozábal 
Former City Councilwoman

Gene Dawson, Jr. P.E. 
President, Pape-Dawson Engineers, Inc.

Noah Garcia 
Senior Commercial Relationship Manager, Vantage Bank Texas

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Page 44 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Anel Flores, Realtor (RBSA)

Peter French, Gray Street Partners (SERN)

John Friesehahn, Imagine Homes (RBSA)

Daniel Galindo, Woodforest Bank (FF)

Richard Gambitta, Ph.D, VIA (SERN)

Santiago Garcia, Methodist Healthcare Ministries (CTHS)

Dahlia Garcia, Crockett Bank (FF)

Ilene Garcia, Texas Rio Grande Legal Aid (SERN)

Belinda Garza Hartwig, SA Chamber of Commerce (RBSA)

Meghan Garza-Oswald, Community Housing 
Resource Partners (SNP)

Fernando Godinez, MAUC (CTHS)

Crystal Gomez, Turner Construction (SERN)

Gilbert Gonzales, San Antonio Board of Realtors (CTHS)

Roland Gonzales, Attorney (SERN)

Frances Gonzalez, Asset Funders Network (CTHS)

Jennifer Gonzalez, Housing Commission Chair/Alamo 
Community Group (FF)

Jose Gonzalez, II, Urban Collaborative Inc. (FF)

Jackie Gorman, SAGE (FF)

Natalie Griffith, Habitat for Humanity (RBSA)

Debra Guerrero, NRP Group (CTHS)

Andrea Guerrero Guajardo, UIW School of Osteopathic 
Medicine (CTHS)

Alysa Guerrero, Texas Organizing Project (SERN)

Jessica O. Guerrero, Vecinos de Mission Trails (SERN)

Jeanette Honermann, REI San Antonio (CTHS)

Bill Hubbard, SARAH (SNP)

Darren James, KAI Texas (RBSA)

June Kachtik, former nonprofit housing director (SERN)

Joanne Kaplan, Real Estate Broker (FF)

Marianne Kestenbaum, Hebrew Free Loan Assoc. (FF)

Lynn Knapik, Realtor (SERN)

Julie Koppenheffer, Attorney (FF)

Jim Leonard, Greenboro Homes (RBSA)

Tony Leverett, United Way (SERN)

James Rick Lewis, UTSA College of Architecture - 
Construction and Planning (SERN)

CJ Littlefield, Alamo Chamber of Commerce (SERN)

Nancy Lopez, LiftFund (RBSA)

Gabe Lopez, San Antonio Housing Trust Board / Jordan 
Foster Construction (RBSA)

Mike Lozito, Bexar County Judicial Services (SNP)

Elizabeth Lutz, Health Collaborative (CTHS)

Cara Magrane, Autism Life Links (SNP)

Bren Manaugh, Health Management Associates (CTHS)

Nita Martin, SABOR (CTHS)

Paul Martin (FF)

Walter Martinez, Former City Councilman, San Antonio 
Community Development Council (RBSA)

Jim McClain, Pastor, Laurel Heights Methodist (SERN)

Laura McKieran, Community Information Now (CTHS)

Patricia Mejia, Methodist Healthcare Ministries (SNP)

Richard Milk, SAHA (CTHS)

Hector Morales, SA Apartment Association (SERN)

Frank Moreno, NRN Homes (RBSA)

Alan Neff, Board of Adjustment (SERN)

Maria Nelson, Urban Land Institute –  
Young Leaders Group (FF)

David Nisivoccia, SAHA (FF)

Frank Pakuszewski, 1836 Asset Development (RBSA)

Craig Pavlich, Credit Human (FF)

George Pedraza, Wells Fargo (FF)

Celina Peña, LiftFund (FF)

Abel Perez, MZ Housing Companies (FF)

Gil Piette, Prospera (SNP)

Jim Plummer, Norton Rose Fulbright (FF)

Rod Radle, Inner City Development (RBSA)

Patti Radle, Former City Councilwoman, 
Inner City Development (SERN)

Coda Rayo-Garza, SAISD (CTHS)

Lisa Rodriguez, AARP (SNP)

Leonard Rodriguez, Westside Development Corp. (SERN)

Cherise Rohr-Allegrini, The Immunization Partnership 
(SERN)

Anna Alicia Romero, Office of Senator Jose Menendez 
(SERN)

Mike Rust, SA Apartment Association (SERN)

Robert Salcido, Pride Center (SNP)

Micah Salinas, Frost Bank (FF)

Salena Santibáñez Guipzot, GPS Consulting (RBSA)

Anisa Schell, Tier One Neighborhoods (CTHS)

Gay Lynn Schwenk, SAMM (SNP)

Patrick Shearer, Cambridge Real Estate Development 
(CTHS)

Susan Sheeran, Merced Housing Texas (CTHS)

Bill Shown, Silver Ventures (RBSA)

Ashley Smith, Alamo Architects (RBSA)

Page 45 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Cynthia Spielman, Beacon Hill NA (SERN)

Morris Stribling, Ph.D, SAHA Board Chair (SERN)

Joel Tabar, SAHA (SNP)

Sandra A. Tamez, Fair Housing Council (RBSA)

Nino Tarantino, Chrysalis Ministries (SNP)

Francisco Tavira, Architect (CTHS)

Mike Taylor, Habitat for Humanity (CTHS)

Tammye Treviño, Bexar County (CTHS)

Tim Treviño, AACOG (CTHS)

Ramon Juan Vasquez, American Indians in Texas (SNP)

Alejandra Villareal, Attorney (RBSA)

Bill Wilkinson, Roy Maas Youth Alternatives (SNP)

Celine Williams, SA Apartment Association (CTHS)

Kenny Wilson, Haven for Hope (SNP)

Ryan Wilson, Franklin Companies (FF)

Terry Ybañez, San Jose Neighborhood Assoc. (SERN)

Steve Yndo, Yndo Development / Urban Land Institute 
(RBSA)

Sister Yolanda Tarango, Visitation House Ministries (SNP)

David Zammiello, Project Quest (RBSA)

Josefa Zatarain Flournoy, AACOG (SNP) 

Kristi Sutterfield, Greater San Antonio Builders 
Association, for data contributions

MAYOR RON NIRENBERG’S OFFICE 

Trey Jacobson, Chief of Staff

Marisa Bono, Chief of Policy

Bruce Davidson, Director of Communications 

Victoria Gonzalez, Senior Policy Advisor

Ivalis Meza, Senior Policy Advisor  

 

CITY OF SAN ANTONIO STAFF

Lead Support

Peter Zanoni, Deputy City Manager, CMO

Edward Guzman, Deputy City Attorney, CAO

Verónica R. Soto, Director, NHSD

Chris Anderson, Aviation Dept. 

Richard Keith, Dept. of Human Services

Jaime Lalley Damron, NHSD

Edward Mayberry, SAPL / NHSD

Laura Salinas-Martinez, NHSD

Scott Zimmerer, CAO  

Technical Working Group & Other Support

City Manager’s Office 

Neighborhood Housing & Services Department

Center City Development & Operations Department 

Department of Human Services

Department of Planning & Community Development 

Development Services Department

Government & Public Affairs Department 

Information Technology Services Department

Office of Management & Budget

San Antonio Public Library

World Heritage Office

CONSULTANT TEAM

Economic & Planning Systems

Andrew Knudtsen, Managing Principal

David Schwartz, Executive Vice President

Rachel Shindman, Associate

Local Initiatives Support Corporation – San Antonio

Leilah Powell, Executive Director

Alice Salinas 

National Association for Latino Community Asset Builders

Noel Poyo, Executive Director & CEO

Paul DeManche

Ana Esparza

Holly Frindell

Levar Martin

Melissa Medina

Marcella Reyes

Carol Rodriguez

Pavlik and Associates

Linda Pavlik, President

Kate Lattimore Norris 

Ximenes & Associates

Linda Ximenes, President

Sonia Jimenez

Report Design

Melissa Burnett, SA2020 Board of Directors

Cover Art

Snake Hawk Press
Page 46 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



CONTENTS

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA

ECONOMIC IMPACT OF HOUSING

ACRONYMS

TIMELINE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

INTRODUCTION

INCREASE CITY INVESTMENT IN HOUSING

ENSURE ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE PUBLIC

OVERARCHING ACTION AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION, 
REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION

10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN

DEVELOP A COORDINATED HOUSING SYSTEM

PROTECT AND PROMOTE NEIGHBORHOODS

14

24

13

12

10

31

46

25

35

48

27

41

Page 47 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INTRODUCTION10

INTRODUCTION

San Antonio, as this report will show, is beginning to 
experience more severe affordable housing problems than 
in the past. An evolving affordability crisis is impacting the 
city’s residents through limited access to housing, higher 
property taxes, gentrifying neighborhoods, and direct or 
indirect displacement.

The problems are complicated by San Antonio’s high 
poverty rate, historical racial and economic segregation 
and aging affordable housing stock. When combined 
with population growth of an additional one million 
people by 2040 and declining new home production, 
today’s affordability challenges are anticipated to worsen 
exponentially if proactive interventions are not made.

The Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force (MHPTF) was 
created to recommend how the City should provide this 
proactive intervention through comprehensive housing 
policies and strategies. The MHPTF adopted a series of 
values grounded in a process that ensured transparency 
and accountability in decision-making and one in which 
the conclusions were data-driven.

To address transparency and accountability in its process, 
the MHPTF adopted a bottom-up approach for guiding 
the discussion. This approach included three community 
meetings, eight public meetings and the creation of 
five technical working groups comprised of over 100 
San Antonio residents with expertise in Protecting 
Neighborhoods, Removing Barriers, Creating a Tranparent 
and Coordinated System, Funding and Finance, and Special 
Populations. The effort resulted in over 300 detailed 
affordable housing recommendations to the MHPTF unified 
by the theme, “everyone should have a place to call home 
and housing must be decent, safe, affordable, stable, and 
delivered through a coordinated system.” 

In addition to the robust community input, research into 
best practices and extensive data analysis, the MHPTF 
recognized that similar efforts of the past that focused 
on housing need had been met with limited success or 
traction. From the creation of the Housing Trust in 1988 to 
the eight distinct reports that addressed housing issues 
since 2012, the MHPTF’s recommendations are informed 
by each of these efforts and documents.

A major distinction, however, between these 
recommendations and those of previous studies is 
the case for why housing should be considered a part 
of the City’s infrastructure. Like water, energy and 
transportation, the MHPTF believes that housing (and 
housing affordability) is a cornerstone of the economy 
and essential to the City’s functioning. Without it, 
the economy suffers, creating a cycle of job loss and 
increased affordability gaps. As such, leveraged public-
private spending to produce nearly 18,700 units over 
the next 10 years needs to be made a priority at levels 
commensurate with other essential infrastructure. 

Moreover, a coordinated housing system supported by an 
executive level housing leader is critical to the success of 
that production target. 

The conclusions of the MHPTF’s 12-month process and 
community-based effort are included in the following 
pages. Organizationally, the report presents the MHPTF 
recommendations through the Problem Statement and 
Supporting Data, the Economic Impact of Housing, 
the Overarching Action and Policy Recommendations 
and finally, a 10-Year Funding Plan. The report includes 
best practice approaches with examples from across 
the country and highlights innovative and promising 
local housing initiatives. The Recommendations section 
includes five actions supported by 11 policy priorities and 
24 implementation strategies. These five action items 
include: Develop a Coordinated Housing System, Increase 
City Investment in Housing, Increase Affordable Housing 
Production, Rehabilitation and Preservation, Protect 
and Promote Neighborhoods, and Ensure Accountability 
to the Public.

The Problem Statement section presents much of the 
MHPTF’s analysis in graphics like the one pictured below. 
Each one contains references to the Area Median Income 
(AMI) category and associated household income. To 
depict the City’s full spectrum of housing needs, the 
analysis assumes the following income definitions (as 
shown): housing with supportive services (or service-
enriched housing) for incomes less than 30 percent 
AMI; affordable housing for households with incomes 
between 30 and 80 percent AMI; workforce housing for 
households between 80 and 120 percent AMI; and market-
rate housing. 

Affordable housing terminology and income 
definitions (City of San Antonio, 2016)

Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, B19019;
Economic & Planning Systems

30% AMI = 
$14,780

60% AMI = 
$29,561

80% AMI = 
$39,414

100% AMI = 
$49,268

120% AMI = 
$59,122

150% AMI = 
$73,902

200% AMI = 
$98,536

Affordable housing terminology and income definition 
(City of San Antonio, 2016)
Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, 819019; Economic & Planning Systems

Detailed documentation on the MHPTF’s process 
including public meeting agendas, housing market 
data, descriptions of the technical working groups and 
recommendations can be found at www.sanantonio.gov/
housingtaskforce

Page 48 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



ACTION ITEM #1: DEVELOP A COORDINATED HOUSING SYSTEM
Policy Priority: Prioritize housing and neighborhoods in the COSA organizational structure.
Strategy:  Immediately create an executive position in the City Manager’s Office to lead housing and neighborhood-related 

activities and integrate with all city functions.
Strategy: Fully resource and staff the Neighborhood and Housing Services Department.
Policy Priority:  COSA should take a leadership role in coordinating a community-wide housing system with housing and 

service providers.
Strategy: Fund a One-Stop Housing Center, including an online portal.

ACTION ITEM #2: INCREASE CITY INVESTMENT IN HOUSING
Policy Priority: Develop a 10-year funding plan for affordable housing production and preservation.
Strategy: Substantially increase general fund revenue for affordable housing.
Strategy: Create dedicated revenue source(s) for affordable housing.
Strategy:  Establish financial leverage as a top priority in the utilization of public funds, including private, nonprofit, and 

philanthropic resources as well as sweat equity.
Strategy: Conduct a comprehensive assessment of the Housing Trust and provide a dedicated revenue source.
Strategy: Revise the City Charter to allow bond revenue to be used for affordable housing.

ACTION ITEM #3: INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION, REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION 
Policy Priority:  Stabilize the HOMEOWNERSHIP rate in San Antonio by increasing the production, preservation, and 

rehabilitation of affordable homes.
Strategy: Prioritize City funding/incentives for ownership housing affordable to households up to 120 percent of AMI. 
Strategy: Increase funding for down payment assistance and homebuyer counseling.
Strategy:  Increase funding for housing rehab programs including, but not limited to: Owner Occupied Rehabilitation, 

Under One Roof and Minor Repair.
Policy Priority: Increase rehabilitation, production and preservation of affordable RENTAL units.
Strategy:  Prioritize City funding and incentives on rent-restricted units affordable to households up to 60 percent AMI, 

with a graduated reduction in funding/incentives from 60 to 80 percent AMI. 
Strategy: Prioritize funding for new rental units in communities that are linked with transportation, jobs and cultural assets.
Policy Priority:  Create housing opportunities for the most vulnerable residents (including but not limited to homeless, 

seniors, youth aging out of the foster care system, and people with disabilities).
Strategy: Increase funding for service-enriched housing.
Policy Priority: Remove barriers to housing production.
Strategy:  Undertake an inclusive public process to determine standards and criteria to allow by-right zoning for housing 

developments in which at least 50 percent of the units are affordable.
Strategy: Exempt affordable housing units from SAWS impact fees. 
Strategy: Revise the UDC to remove regulatory barriers to affordable housing.

ACTION ITEM #4: PROTECT AND PROMOTE NEIGHBORHOODS
Policy Priority: Address the impact of rising taxes on housing affordability.
Strategy:  Implement immediately affordable housing tax and appraisal protection measures such as tax exemptions, 

preservation districts, and TIFs.
Policy Priority: Prevent and mitigate displacement.
Strategy:  Require public agencies to conduct a displacement impact assessment for any public project that receives 

$15 million or more in public investment and to budget for mitigation.
Strategy:  Create a fund to mitigate the impacts of displacement including: providing relocation assistance for 

households up to 80 percent AMI, rapid re-housing, and housing navigators.
Strategy:  Fund proactive outreach and counseling to low- and moderate-income households experiencing 

housing vulnerability.
Policy Priority: Reduce housing discrimination and expand opportunity.
Strategy: Implement a citywide public education and outreach campaign about the importance of housing.

ACTION ITEM #5: ENSURE ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE PUBLIC
Policy Priority: Create a governance structure for oversight and public engagement.
Strategy:  Redefine the Housing Commission as a public oversight board to guide the implementation of the MHPTF’s 

recommendations and engage the public.
Strategy:  Develop an annual report to track and publicly report results of the full housing system, including but not limited 

to: unit production, cost burden, preservation, rehabilitation, leverage and rental production for 0 to 30 percent 
AMI and 30 to 60 percent AMI.

A

A

A

A

A

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

Page 49 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



TIMELINE FOR IMPLEMENATION12

T IMELINE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

The successful implementation of the MHPTF’s report in the first year wil require the following actions.

MONTH ACTION

SEPTEMBER 2018

•  Mayor and City Council passes an ordinance to 1) adopt the MHPTF report; 
2) reconstitute the Housing Commission to oversee the implementation of the 
report; 3) direct City staff to implement the MHPTF recommendations with 
guidance from the Housing Commission. 

•  Mayor and City Council passes a budget that prioritizes housing by 
appropriating the funds necessary to implement key MHPTF recommendations, 
including housing executive position, in the next fiscal year.

OCTOBER 2018

•  Mayor and City Council establishes the Technical Working Group on removing 
barriers to the production and preservation of Affordable Housing within the 
Unified Development Code. 

•  The San Antonio Housing Trust Board releases a request for proposals to 
procure a third-party expert to review the Housing Trust and recommend 
organizational and programmatic changes. 

•  City staff presents a plan to the reconstituted Housing Commission to 
implement the MHPTF’s report. 

•  City Manager initiates a national search for an executive position in the 
City Manager’s office to lead housing and neighborhood-related activities 
and integrate with all city functions.

NOVEMBER 2018

•  Mayor appoints a committee to lead an inclusive and community driven 
process for Form Based Code and By-Right Zoning.  

• City Council considers a policy for addressing and mitigating displacement.

JULY 2019 •  Housing Commission issues first annual report on policy recommendations and 
budget request for FY2019/2020.

AUGUST 2019
•  Technical Working Group on removing barriers to the production and 

preservation of affordable housing within the Unified Development Code 
presents recommendations.

SEPTEMBER 2019 • Adoption of FY2019/2020 Housing Budget aligned to 10-Year Funding Plan.

OCTOBER 2019 •  Committee leading an inclusive and community driven process for Form Based 
Code and By-Right Zoning presents recommendations.

Page 50 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



ACRONYMS 13

ACRONYMS

ADU Accessory Dwelling Unit

AMI Area Median Income

CCDO Center City Development & Operations Department

CCHIP Center City Housing Incentive Policy

CDBG Community Development Block Grants

COSA City of San Antonio

FBC Form-Based Code

HFC Housing Finance Corporation

HOME HOME Investment Partnerships Program

HUD U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development

ICRIP Inner City Reinvestment & Infill Policy

LIHTC Low-Income Housing Tax Credit

MHPTF Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force

NHSD Neighborhood & Housing Service Department

SAHA San Antonio Housing Authority

SAHT San Antonio Housing Trust

SAWS San Antonio Water System

SEH Service-Enriched Housing

TIF Tax Increment Financing

TIRZ Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone

TWG Technical Working Group

UDC Unified Development Code

Page 51 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND  
SUPPORTING DATA/ECONOMIC 
IMPACT OF HOUSING

Page 52 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA 15

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA

An analysis of demographic, economic, and housing 
conditions reveals that San Antonio is beginning to 
experience more severe affordability problems than it has 
in the past. Housing affordability problems are more than 
a personal challenge. Emerging from them are structural 
concerns that pose a fundamental threat to the region’s 
economy and to residents’ ability to invest in their own 
futures. Rising housing costs and stagnating incomes can 
lead to households spending too much of their income 
on housing, households having to look elsewhere for 
housing, and increased transportation costs. The vicious 
cycle does not, however, stop there. Decreased household 
discretionary spending (i.e. quality of life expenditures) 
lowers the Gross Regional Product (GRP) and negatively 
impacts businesses, which can further depress wages and 
lead to job loss. 

This challenge is not unique to San Antonio. Nationwide, 
there are just 35 affordable and available rental homes 
for every 100 extremely low-income families—those who 
either live in poverty or earn less than 30 percent of the 
median income in their area. It’s a problem in every major 
city and in every state.

The problem statements that follow reflect only the 
most salient findings of a comprehensive data analysis 
completed by the Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force 
(MHPTF) to understand the impact on San Antonians and 
determine how the City will begin tracking its progress 
toward positive and foundational change.1  To restore 
housing stability, the tidal wave of unaffordability must 
be stemmed.

What does “affordable” mean?
At the heart of this study is the concept of housing 
affordability. For decades, the federal government has 
defined “affordable” by the rule that no household should 
spend more than 30 percent of its income on housing, 
implying high-income earners, hourly-wage workers, 
young professionals, the elderly on fixed incomes, and 
everyone in between. Affordable housing means a place to 
live that is “affordable” so that when the rent or mortgage 
is made, money is left over for basic necessities like food, 
transportation, healthcare, and all that contributes to one’s 
socioeconomic mobility and quality of life. 

Housing Costs are Outpacing Incomes in 
San Antonio
For nearly two decades, San Antonio’s housing costs have 
increased faster than the household Area Median Income 
(AMI).2 As a result of this divergence in fundamentals, 
fewer and fewer of the city’s 498,000 households have 
been able to invest in or even qualify for a home. While 
between 2005 and 2016, the median sales price of a home 
increased by an average of 4.7 percent per year ($120,000 
to $180,000), the city’s AMI increased by an average of 
just 1.9 percent per year ($40,100 to $49,300). 

120%

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Source: U.S. Census ACS, HUD, FHFA, BLS; Economic & Planning Systems

M
et

ric
s 

In
de

xe
d 

(I
llu

st
ra

te
 %

 C
ha

ng
e 

O
ve

r 
20

0
1

CPI (Urban Consumers) - South
Median Household Income (Census)
House Price Index (FHFA)

109%

36%
41%

Page 53 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Growing Affordability Gap
One measure of this divergence among 
fundamentals is the “affordability gap”, the 
difference between the median sales price of a 
home and the affordable purchase price for a 
household earning 100 percent of AMI. In 2005, 
the affordability gap was $18,900 for households 
earning 100 percent AMI, and by 2016 the gap 
had increased to $26,300. For renters interested 
in buying a home (where median income among 
them is $36,000), their affordability gap widened 
from $64,200 to $76,700 over the 
same period. 

The underlying threat to the city and its 
households is that fewer and fewer new and 
existing residents are achieving homeownership.3  
In 2005, 230,000 households (54 percent of all the 
city’s households) could not afford the median-
priced home; by 2016, that number increased to 
nearly 294,000 (59 percent). 

1. The data analysis was guided by a desire to replicate and expand on 
the data used in the 2013 Comprehensive Housing Needs Assessment 
and Strategic Plan. The analysis leveraged sources, including but not 
limited to: U.S. Census Public Use Microdata (PUMS 1-year estimates), 
American Community Survey (ACS 1-year estimates), Texas Workforce 
Commission, Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), Bureau of Labor 
Statistics (BLS), U.S. Census Longitudinal Employer-Household 
Dynamics (LEHD), Greater San Antonio Builders Association, Multiple 
Listing Service, and Metrostudy. The analysis was completed at the 
Census tract level basis to document historic trends in housing supply 
and demand by tenure and income levels, overall income distributions, 
employment, population, wages, housing cost burden by tenure and 
income level, inventory gaps by tenure and income level, housing 
prices by income affordability level, affordability gaps, the economic 
impacts of cost burden, as well as projections of cost burden, inventory 
gaps, affordability gaps, and economic impacts over time.

2. In this report, Area Median Income refers to the median income 
of households for the City of San Antonio only. It represents the 
income level in the middle of the distribution of all households, where 
50 percent of households have lower incomes, and 50 percent of 
households have higher incomes. 

3. Refer to “Drop in ownership rate” on page 21.

2005
Source: MLS; U.S. Census; Economic Planning Systems

2016
Source: MLS; U.S. Census; Economic Planning Systems

2030
Source: MLS; U.S. Census; Economic Planning Systems

$120,000

$180,000

$235,000

$101,000

$153,700

$157,300

$18,900

$26,300

$77,700

Affordable to Household
Earning 100% AMI

Affordable to Household
Earning 100% AMI

Affordable to Household
Earning 100% AMI

Median Sales Price

Median Sales Price

Median Sales Price

Affordability Gap

Affordability Gap

Affordability Gap

Given the recent upward trajectory of the 
Federal Reserve’s overnight borrowing rate, 
it is easy to imagine mortgage interest rates 
rising higher over the next decade. Although 
forecasting is filled with uncertainty, a 
projection of house prices and incomes along 
their current paths, and an increase in the 
mortgage interest rate of just 2 percent over the 
next decade illustrates the growing threat. With 
a median home price of $235,000, household 
income of $60,800 and a mortgage rate of 7 
percent by 2030, the affordability gap would 
widen to $77,700 by 2030. For renters, that 
means a shortfall of $114,300.

WHERE COULD THIS TREND GO?

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA16 Page 54 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Households are Spending More of Their Income on Housing
Because of this affordability gap, 165,000 of all San Antonio households were spending more than 30 percent of their 
incomes on housing in 2016, a measure commonly called cost-burden.4 For those households renting or owning, the 
situation differs: approximately one out of every two renter households is cost-burdened (48 percent), compared to one 
out of every five owner households (21 percent).5

30% AMI = 
$14,780

60% AMI = 
$29,561

80% AMI = 
$39,414

100% AMI = 
$49,268

120% AMI = 
$59,122

150% AMI = 
$73,902

200% AMI = 
$98,536

30,000 60,000

9,800 CB’d households

17,800 CB’d households

36,500 CB’d households

36,900 CB’d households

Renter households and cost-burdened renter 
households, 2016

Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, 
B19019, B25063, B25118, B25106; 
Economic & Planning Systems Cost-burdened households by AMI

Renter Households by AMI

Renter households and cost-burdened renter households, 2016
Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, B19019, B25063, B25118, B25106; Economic & Planning Systems

Renter Households by AMI

Cost-burdened households by AMI

30,000 60,000

13,200 CB’d households

15,000 CB’d households

9,400 CB’d households

7,800 CB’d households

Owner Households by AMI

Cost-burdened households by AMI

Owner households and cost-burdened owner 
households, 2016

Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, 
B19019, B25063, B25118, B25106;
Economic & Planning Systems

30% AMI = 
$14,780

60% AMI = 
$29,561

80% AMI = 
$39,414

100% AMI = 
$49,268

120% AMI = 
$59,122

150% AMI = 
$73,902

200% AMI = 
$98,536

Owner households and cost-burdened owner households, 2016
Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, B19019, B25063, B25118, B25106; Economic & Planning Systems

Owner Households by AMI

Cost-burdened households by AMI

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA 17Page 55 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



One reason households spend more than 30 percent 
of their income on housing is due to the mismatch 
between their income levels and the availability of 
affordable housing.
Another complication of this problem facing San Antonio is the 
imbalance between housing supply and demand. This means that 
for all the city’s new and existing residents at different income 
levels (but particularly those below 100 percent AMI), there aren’t 
enough houses of any type (single family, townhomes, duplexes, etc.) at 

appropriate price points to ensure that people spend no more than 30 percent of their income on housing. As illustrated 
on the previous page, this imbalance means that tens of thousands of San Antonio’s households find themselves spending 
too much of their income on housing costs. That imbalance is caused by a variety of factors. On one hand, growth in the 
city’s economy, its businesses, jobs and population drive demand for housing at different price points. On the other hand, 
the sluggish growth in household incomes and new home construction mean that more people are vying for limited options.

The Housing Inventory “Gap”
This side of the problem is called a “gap” in supply. The housing inventory gap takes into account the difference between 
the number of households by AMI and the supply of housing affordable to them (assuming that households don’t spend 
more than 30 percent of their income on housing). Between 2005 and 2016, the mismatch between renter households 
under 30 percent AMI and the inventory affordable to them has turned upside-down. In fact, among renter households 
earning between 30 and 60 percent AMI, an excess of 14,000 available units dropped to a deficit of 2,400 units in this 
11-year period.

Extensive analysis was done to understand how 
cost-burden is affecting people. In 2016, while 
57 percent of the city’s renter households were 
Hispanic/Latino, the analysis showed that 66 
percent of cost-burdened renter households 
were Hispanic/Latino.

DISPROPORTIONATE IMPACT

4. In 2016, there were more than 498,000 households in San Antonio.

5. In 2005, there were approximately 76,200 cost-burdened renter households, of which 73,700 were households at or below 100 percent AMI. By 2016, that number had 
grown to 107,600, of which 101,000 were households at or below 100 percent AMI. Nearly half of the households (50,800) were spending more than 50 percent of their income 
on housing (called severe cost burden). By 2030, as the number of San Antonio households approaches 590,000, and if all factors related to housing affordability remain 
constant, there could be as many as 200,000 cost-burdened households, of which 147,000 would be renter households.

30% AMI = 
$14,780

60% AMI = 
$29,561

80% AMI = 
$39,414

100% AMI = 
$49,268

120% AMI = 
$59,122

150% AMI = 
$73,902

200% AMI = 
$98,536

30,000 60,000

Supply / Demand 
Mismatch = 32,000 units

Supply / Demand 
Mismatch = 2,400 units

Renter households (demand) and rental 
housing inventory (supply), 2016

Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, 
B19019, B25063, B25118; Economic & Planning Systems

Renter Housing Units by AMI

Renter Households by AMI

Renter households (demand) and rental housing inventory (supply), 2016
Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, B19019, B25063, B25118; Economic & Planning Systems

Renter Households by AMI

Renter Housing Units by AMI

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA18 Page 56 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



CASE STUDY  |  San Antonio Housing Authority

The San Antonio Housing Authority (SAHA) provides housing 
assistance to over 27,000 households, including over 65,000 
children, adults and senior citizens. Among them, approximately 
half are individuals under 18 and nearly half are elderly or 
disabled households. SAHA’s Affordable Public Housing programs 
are critical to the community because they provide housing 
assistance to families throughout the city, including families 
earning less than $12,500 annually. The programs that SAHA 
supports include:

 •  Public Housing: 6,254 housing units at 70 properties

 •  Mixed-Income Housing: 7,038 units at 46 mixed-income 
properties through the City’s non-profit partners

 • Housing Choice Vouchers: Rental assistance vouchers for 13,922 families 

Emblematic of San Antonio’s need, even with the magnitude of housing assistance SAHA brings to our community, there 
are still approximately 50,000 families on a wait list for these programs. 

30,000 60,000

Supply/Demand
Mismatch = 16,400 units

Owner Housing Units by AMI

Owner Households by AMI

Owner households (demand) and owner 
housing inventory (supply), 2016
Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, 
B19019, B25063, B25118;
Economic & Planning Systems

30% AMI = 
$14,780

60% AMI = 
$29,561

80% AMI = 
$39,414

100% AMI = 
$49,268

120% AMI = 
$59,122

150% AMI = 
$73,902

200% AMI = 
$98,536

Owner households (demand) and owner housing inventory (supply), 2016
Source: U.S. Census ACS 1-year estimates, B19019, B25063, B25118; Economic & Planning Systems

Owner Households by AMI

Owner Housing Units by AMI

Overall, San Antonio is not lacking in housing inventory; there are approximately 498,000 households and the same 
number of occupied housing units. The issue is that the city’s housing inventory affordable for households at various 
income levels does not align with the number of households at those incomes. The graphic below illustrates how supply 
lines up against demand by income, revealing a mismatch of 16,400 units for households with incomes at or below 30 
percent AMI. More concerning (but not illustrated) is the fact that since 2005, the city’s supply of housing affordable to 
households between 60 and 120 percent AMI has decreased by more than 24,000 housing units while the number of 
households in those income categories has remained constant. 

Beyond that, other issues of inadequacy in the ownership supply include: 1) approximately 1,000 households are living in 
units that have physical deficiencies, like a lack of plumbing or kitchen facilities; and 2) that approximately 5,200 owner 
households live in overcrowded conditions. 

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA 19Page 57 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Where could this trend go?
As indicated above, although there is uncertainty in forecasting, if the current general market conditions prevail over the 
next decade, by 2030, the city’s supply-demand imbalance for low- and moderate-income households (defined in the 
graphic below) will increase by another 29,600 units. Not only does this mean that 15,000 more of the city’s new and 
existing households will be cost-burdened, it means that the residents who were living in those 14,600 units will become 
cost-burdened if they weren’t before.

+15,000 HOUSEHOLDS
OWNERS: 60-120% AMI  |  RENTERS: LESS THAN 60% AMI

AFFORDABLE TO THOSE SAME HOUSEHOLDS

-14,600 UNITS

GROWING GAP OF 29,600 UNITS

San Antonio’s housing supply is not keeping 
pace with economic growth
Part of this story is a mark of the City’s success. Between 
2005 and 2016, the city’s job base grew by an average 
of 14,900 per year, but the number of households grew 
by just 6,500 a year. This means that for every two new 
jobholders, less than one of them could find a house 
in San Antonio. The other half of those new jobholder 
households were forced to look outside the city for a place 
to live. 

Because of the inventory shortage, the graphic to the right 
illustrates that areas outside the city absorbed more than 
3 of every 4 new jobholders (and their households) 
with the County absorbing nearly 9 out of every 10 
new owner households

Regionally and nationally, jobs and households generally 
grow at a near one-to-one ratio, meaning that if housing 
production in San Antonio had kept pace with this 
economic growth, the city’s affordability gap might not 
have widened so much. Homes Inside of San Antonio

Homes Outside of San Antonio

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA20 Page 58 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Drop in ownership rate
During a decade when mortgage rates leveled off at 
historic 40-year lows, only 12 percent of all the city’s new 
households (between 2005 and 2016) purchased a home, 
whereas 88 percent became renters. For San Antonio, that 
means a loss of investment opportunity in the stability and 
quality of life for residents and the community. As a result, 
the overall homeownership rate fell from 61 to 54 percent. 

Decrease in owner households 
with mortgages
The problem, however, is more systemic. To maintain 
community investment and engagement, or at least to 
maintain a stable balance between owner and renter 
households, the number of households paying off their 
mortgages should be roughly the same as the number 
of existing or new households entering into a mortgage. 
During this time, however, the portion of San Antonio 
households holding a mortgage dropped from 67 percent 
to 60 percent, indicating financial freedom for about 
21,300 households on one hand, but indicating lack of 
broader investment on the other. 

Who is impacted?
There are numerous jobs that are critical to the service 
sector including: wait staff, hosts, personal care aids, 
cooks, cashiers, cleaners, child care workers, hotel staff, 
concierges, hair dressers, barbers, bakers, taxi drivers, 
floral designers, artists, security guards, grounds keepers, 
and mechanics. And many of these occupations essential 
to the local economy pay less than $15 an hour, which is 
approximately 60 percent AMI, meaning that an affordable 
monthly rent for a household supported by one of these 
jobs is about $780. Even for the community workforce 

of teachers, firefighters, police officers, and healthcare 
professionals, sharply escalating home prices and property 
taxes affects social, neighborhood, and economic stability 
and quality of life.

While there are single-person households with one or 
more jobs and multi-person households with more than 
one job, households supported in whole or in part by 
these jobholders are cost-burdened. In fact, it takes 
$18 an hour to afford San Antonio’s median rent of over 
$940 per month. 

These sectors play a vital role in San Antonio’s economy 
and culture, and yet their workers are being priced 
out of the market, forced into either housing and/
or transportation cost-burden situations. Workers 
and their employers depend on the availability of 
affordable housing. Viewed through the larger economic 
development lens, investment in affordable housing helps 
not only working families, but it also ensures businesses 
can find workers, and those workers are not burdened by 
additional housing or transportation costs.

Two-thirds of all employment growth is concentrated 
in five industries—retail, finance, administration, health 
care, and hospitality. Collectively, their annual growth 
represents more than 10,000 of the 14,900 new jobs 
per year. Nearly half (4,800) pay an average of less than 
$26,000 per year (an estimated $12.50 per hour). That 
means households supported by one of these jobs can 
only afford a home priced at $66,000 or a monthly rent 
of $650. 

EMPLOYMENT SECTOR GROWTH

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0
$20,000 $40,000 $60,000 $80,000 $100,000 $120,000

Industry Average Annual Growth

Health care and social assistance

Accommodation and food services

Finance and insurance

Administrative and support and waste
management and remediation services

Professional, scientific, and technical services

Real estate and rental and leasing

Government and government enterprises

Retail trade

Other services (except public administration)

Construction

Educational services

Wholesale trade

Transportation and warehousing

Management of companies and enterprises

Arts, entertainment, and recreation

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA 21Page 59 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Neighborhood change
While redevelopment and investment can bring about 
positive outcomes, these changes can be catalysts 
for negative social and economic consequences. 
Gentrification, for example, is a type of neighborhood 
change in which real estate price appreciation can 
lead to involuntary displacement, neighborhood and 
community instability, and significant cultural change. 
Property owners in desirable locations approached 
with redevelopment offers often impact lower-
income, minority, and elderly households. When cities 
undergoing growth do not tie affordability commitments 
to development, this pressure can push out existing 
affordable inventory and longtime residents.

As a result, households might be forced to move in with 
family (displacement that leads to overcrowding) or 
continue to live in their now-costly housing (becoming 
cost-burdened) to stay close to their jobs, schools, or 
other cultural assets. They might also choose to relocate 
to find similarly-priced housing, which is often a mere 
shift in inevitably higher costs of living—i.e. paying the 
same for housing but more for transportation. Even worse, 
some may lose their homes. Whatever the situation, such 
neighborhood change frequently results in quality of life 
challenges and trade-offs in spending like paying utility 
bills and rent or mortgage versus being able to eat out or 
buy clothing. 

Illustrating one of the primary drivers of neighborhood 
change in the graphic below is how demand (i.e. housing 
demand from population growth) has increasingly relied 
on the existing inventory since 2004. Following the onset 
of the recession (beginning in 2007), new home starts 
dwindled to just 30 percent of all homes sales in the city, 
whereas existing home sales now represent 70 percent of 
all sales. This is a reversal of the supply-demand balance, 
meaning the city’s existing neighborhoods are under 
greater gentrification and change pressures.

Data analysis shows that the sharp drop in new home 
construction during the Great Recession (between 2007 
and 2009) placed more pressure on existing housing 
supply making it more difficult to keep up with steady 
population growth and household demand.

DISPLACEMENT PRESSURE

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Source: Metrostudy; MLS; Economic & Planning SystemsExisting Home Sales

New Home Starts

25% 27%

22%

32%

51%

63%
60% 61% 62%

67%
68%

70%
71%

70%

75%
73%

78%

68%

49%

37%
40%

39%
38%

33%
32%

30% 29% 30%

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA22 Page 60 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Challenges and systemic barriers
Challenges, such as structural poverty, over-regulation, 
economic segregation and the cost of building in high-
opportunity areas create significant barriers in the city’s 
housing system. The city has numerous pockets of 
persistent intergenerational poverty. In many instances, 
these pockets reflect the legacy of redlining and align 
with racial/ethnic communities that historically have had 
limited (or been denied) access to capital, home loans, 
or financing for the upkeep of their homes. Even access 
to education, the banking system itself, and counseling 
were among these limitations, and the poor condition of 
housing in these areas is no coincidence.

At the same time, according to a report comparing Census 
data, San Antonio had 38 Census tracts with concentrated 
poverty in 1970 and 66 by 2010. More recently, the Pew 
Research Center conducted a nationwide study of the rise 

of residential income segregation by Census tract and 
found that in San Antonio, one out of every four upper-
income households lived in majority upper-income 
Census tracts.6   

Longstanding and increasing poverty continues to 
contribute to housing vulnerability, either through 
challenges with upkeep, or cost burden, such as rent, 
mortgage payments, property taxes, and utilities. These 
factors in turn pose a host of health, well-being, and 
social and economic challenges for residents, all of which 
create a need to balance the cost of affordable housing 
production in high-opportunity areas with the need to 
invest in housing in low-income communities. 

6. http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2012/08/01/the-rise-of-residential-segregation-

by-income/

CASE STUDY  |  Delivering Services, Housing, and Programs to End Homelessness

Circumstances that cause homelessness, such as a lack of affordable housing, opportunity for a livable income, and access 
to health care, afflict many in our community. Each year, communities across the country complete a “Point-in-Time” 
count to determine the number of people experiencing homelessness. San Antonio’s most recent tally found that the 
number of homeless people on the streets or in shelters had increased from 2,743 in 2017 to 3,066 in 2018. 

To address these urgent needs, the South Alamo Regional Alliance for the Homeless (SARAH) and Haven for Hope 
work closely with agencies across San Antonio and Bexar County to collect client program and system data and 
coordinate services. 

When homeless individuals, veterans, and families with children are facing a housing crisis, many turn to Haven for Hope 
for immediate access to temporary shelter, food, clothing and supportive services. Not only does Haven provide these 
kind of emergency relief services, but it also collaborates with over 185 partner organizations to provide more than 
300 comprehensive services that equip individuals with the tools necessary to move towards self-sufficiency and 
permanent housing. 

Homeless shelters like those that Haven for Hope provides are critical, but an ample supply of beds, transitional housing 
and services is not enough to end homelessness. The City needs to substantially increase the supply of permanent, 
dignified, affordable housing options with supportive services.

Page 61 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Can public investment create enduring, 
beneficial conditions for vulnerable 
neighborhoods? 
Instability occurs in vulnerable neighborhoods 
where the housing stock is older and where 
property values are low enough that it is 
economically viable to demolish existing structures 
and build new ones. As mentioned previously, 
redevelopment often negatively impacts 
neighborhoods of lower-income, ethnically diverse 
and/or elderly households. Renter households 
are also particularly susceptible to this pattern, as 
they have few protections against these threats. 
The maps here depict the location of housing 
throughout the city by year built and illustrate the 
concentration of older homes in the city’s core. 
They also illustrate the overlap of high poverty rates 
and high concentrations of racial/ethnic groups 
and are simultaneously where the highest rates of 
residential demolition exist and where the highest 
rates of home price appreciation exist.

Age of Housing Stock

Created by NALCAB
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates, 2016

Median Year Built
Built Before 1950

1950 to 1970

1970 to 1980

1980 to 1990

1990 to 2000

Built after 2000

Poverty

Created by NALCAB
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates, 2016

Percent in Poverty
Less than 10%

10% to 20%

20% to 30%

30% to 40%

40% to 50%

More than 50%

Race/Ethnicity

Created by NALCAB
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates, 2016

Percent Persons of  Color
Less than 25%

25% to 50%

50% to 70%

70% to 80%

80% to 90%

More than 90%

PROBLEM STATEMENTS AND SUPPORTING DATA23 Page 62 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



ECONOMIC IMPACT OF HOUSING

Lack of affordable housing negatively 
impacts families, the community and 
the economy
In San Antonio, data show that median home prices have 
more than doubled while incomes have risen just 40 
percent since 2005. As stated earlier, housing affordability 
is more than a personal challenge; it’s one that leads to 
negative impacts on a community’s economic health and 
quality of life. 

Neighborhoods, schools, and school children are 
impacted, a community’s heritage and culture can be 
destroyed over time, and general health outcomes 
and civic participation can be negatively influenced. 
The economic component, though, follows a constant 
feedback loop that has negative consequences for the 
regional economy.

When housing costs increase and wages stagnate, 
households either search for more affordable housing 
elsewhere or stay in place and become cost-burdened. 
For those who can find cheaper housing farther 
away, they end up spending more of their income on 
transportation. Ultimately, and in both cases, this cycle 
of overspending leads to increased cost burden and 
diminished regional household spending, which lowers 
the Gross Regional Product (GRP) and negatively impacts 
businesses, which means wages (continue to) stagnate 
and jobs are lost. This leads back to the starting point, and 
the cycle begins again.

Housing and Transportation 
One of the more overlooked elements of housing policy is 
the role it plays in the broader economic competitiveness 
context. In urban economics literature, one metric 
that clearly connects housing to transportation is that 
commuters have a tolerable commute distance of 30 to 
45 minutes each way. But because of housing affordability 
challenges, among other factors, people are commuting in 
greater and greater proportions. Between 2005 and 2015, 
the number of in-commuters in San Antonio’s workforce 
increased from 174,000 to more than 281,000, a 60 
percent increase versus a 26 percent increase in jobs. 

While the causality of these shifts is debatable, most 
households are making trade-offs. Some are choosing 
a larger house in favor of proximity to work or other 
services, and some are choosing a smaller house to be 
closer to work, for example. But because people rarely 
have the resources to buy the perfect house in the 
perfect location, numerous trade-offs are made. As a 
result, quality of life and economic competitiveness 
problems arise.

As these conditions persist, businesses increasingly 
struggle to find, keep, or expand their workforce, a 
common struggle for the service sectors whose wage 
structures may be ineffective at holding on to workers, 
like retail, accommodations, hospitality, healthcare, 
government, and emergency services. Businesses in these 
sectors experience high or unsustainable turnover rates, 
and communities struggle to lure new industries. 

$657 Million per Year in Overspending 
The economic impact of “overspending” cannot be 
overlooked. In San Antonio, it is estimated that this 
problem cost the City $657 million in 2016, averaging 
$332 per month for each of the 165,000 cost-burdened 
households. While a downstream analysis of “where” 
these dollars go (e.g. local versus non-local landlords 
or local versus non-local mortgage bond holders) is not 
possible without rigorous and proprietary data collection, 
it is understood that these dollars would be spent on a 
different array of goods and services benefitting not only 
local households’ quality of life but also benefitting the 
local economy. It is estimated that those downstream 
dollars would circulate through the regional economy, 
supporting more than 5,500 additional jobs per year in 
the city.

The blend of high housing (and transportation) costs, 
lower discretionary spending, and increasing business 
labor force struggles are challenges that communities can 
endure only so long before other social problems arise.

DECREASED GDP, 
PRODUCTIVITY AND 

QUALITY OF LIFE

Housing Costs 
Rise and/or

Incomes 
Stagnate

Housing $ Rises 
and

Discretionary $ 
Decreases

Transportation 
$ Rises and 

Discretionary $ 
Decreases

Discretionary $ 
Decreases and 

Labor Shortages/
Businesses 
Struggle

ECONOMIC IMPACT OF HOUSING 24Page 63 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



OVERARCHING ACTION AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS25

OVERARCHING ACTION AND 
POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

This section presents the Mayor’s Housing Policy Task 
Force (MHPTF) five overarching actions, 11 policy 
priorities, and 24 implementation strategies. These 
recommendations reflect the extensive data analysis, 
rich community engagement process, research into best 
practices across the country, and an examination of case 
studies. With the illustration of best practices and local 
cases studies that embody structural reform, progressive 
policy and innovative use of resources, it is the intent of 
the MHPTF that this set of recommendations acknowledge 
not only the commitment of the City to improve the 
quality of life of its residents but also the connection 
between economic development and housing affordability. 
These will serve as building blocks for a comprehensive 
and compassionate housing policy framework. 

Making housing a priority in San Antonio
The first step in recognizing housing as a priority and 
addressing the growing housing crisis is understanding 
the magnitude of the problem (previous section). The 
second step is committing to making housing a priority 
(this section). In this process, the Mayor’s Housing Policy 
Task Force chose to be deliberate in understanding the 
problem and the data, but more importantly chose to 
listen and clearly understand the problems from the 
community’s perspective. When the MHPTF held its first 
public meeting in early December 2017, participants were 
asked, “What do you want the task force members to 
know about housing in San Antonio?” The most common 
response was that they need more affordable, stable, and 
safe housing, and a better definition of what affordable 
housing really means. 

Housing as infrastructure
Housing is a critical part of a community’s infrastructure. 
With water, energy, and transportation, housing is the 
fourth leg of a community’s economic foundation. Hence, 
effective housing policy should play a significant role 
in a community’s governance structure and should be 
appropriately resourced. While the City of San Antonio 
spends hundreds of millions of dollars in each of the other 
legs of this infrastructure, housing has been neglected. 
City revenues have grown by $210 million in the last five 
years,7 and housing has remained a very low priority. As 
the magnitude of the housing affordability problem in the 
city has become clearer, it is evident that we do not have 
a resource problem, we have a priority problem.

As a community, the City needs to develop a comprehensive 
approach to solving its housing problems and directing 
a proportional amount of its resources toward it. This 
includes renovating existing rental and homeownership 
housing stock, increasing housing options, investing 
in affordable housing production, and preserving the 
affordability of housing in legacy neighborhoods. 

From a governance perspective, it means balancing 
public revenues against the cost of investing in and 
providing public goods and services, as well as balancing 
the regulatory environment against growth and demand 
pressures. From the economic development perspective, 
it means supporting, attracting, and expanding business 
opportunities. It means investing in an educated and 
skilled workforce, their quality of life, and recognizing 
that businesses are attracted to areas with housing 
affordability. If large segments of the workforce cannot 
afford to live in an area, a combination of outcomes can 
occur such as labor shortages, increased traffic, and air 
quality problems with more commuting. Consequently, 
new industries may be deterred from moving to the area, 
and existing businesses may decide to relocate. From a 
socioeconomic perspective, effective policy fosters an 
environment where residents are not being forced to 
make unnecessary trade-offs in housing and quality 
of life decisions. 

Without a tailored strategy to maintain housing options 
and affordability, the economic opportunities and quality 
of life aspects that originally led to high housing demand 
and high property values will be lost. 

ENERGY WATER HOUSINGTRANSPORTATION

7. 2018 City of San Antonio adopted budget.

Page 64 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Momentum
Although there have been many efforts over the last 
few decades to develop affordable housing and revamp 
the City’s governance structure, these efforts have not 
fully addressed the underlining structural challenges and 
the magnitude of the problem. These efforts, successes, 
and enhancements in the community’s housing delivery 
system have, however, built incredibly strong momentum 
for concrete action. 

Efforts like the creation of the Neighborhood and 
Housing Services Department (NHSD) have represented 
a commitment to putting an organizational structure in 
place at the City to address housing and neighborhood 
opportunities. Successes like the approval of a 5-year 
Neighborhood Improvements Bond, which included 
$20 million for housing, and the Federal Transit 
Administration’s selection of San Antonio to receive 
four years of technical assistance for VIA Metropolitan 
Transit to create transit-oriented communities, have also 

signaled a watershed moment in the collective effort to 
address growing affordability concerns. The presence 
of national, regional, and local nonprofit funding, 
production, and technical support partners, alongside 
a meaningful groundswell of grassroots organizing has 
furthermore brought with it a deep interest in seeing a 
better-coordinated and better-funded system. And most 
recently, the decision to reevaluate the as-of-right Center 
City Housing Incentives Program (CCHIP) incentives 
has ushered in a distinct opportunity to reprioritize and 
redirect resources to equitably meet the needs of the 
entire community. 

And on top of so many studies, commissions and boards 
focused on housing issues, the MHPTF believes that 
it is imperative that policy recommendations include 
an implementation plan with dedicated funding. It 
would not be prudent for the City Council to adopt 
this comprehensive housing policy report without an 
implementation and funding plan. 

RECOMMENDATIONS AND IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

As such, the recommendation and 
implementation steps that follow are 
either foundational or prescriptive. Overall, 
they contain three core elements—policy, 
implementation, and resources. They are 
envisioned to both weather different political 
environments and ensure that the leadership of 
various responsible departments is aligned. 

To make certain that they carry political 
durability and longevity, they have been infused 
with theoretical, practical, and boots-on-the-ground thinking. They address and acknowledge the many efforts of the past 
but take a hard look at the current and projected realities. Oriented with appropriate funding and a coordinated system, 
they are also aligned with two major principles of housing economics—production and administrative efficiency—laying 
the cornerstone for an effective and successful comprehensive and compassionate housing policy framework. 

FUNDING
Production Efficiency

SYSTEMS
Administrative Efficiency

SUCCESSFUL 
HOUSING POLICY

These are the underlying values that the MHPTF followed and adhered to in the process of collecting and 
examining data, researching, listening, building consensus, and formulating recommendations.

• Ensure transparency and accountability in decision-making
• Be data-driven
• Ensure that public policy and public-sector investment advances a public interest
• Value and balance both community member experience and technical expertise 
•  Promote public participation that addresses disparities in access for different populations, includes 

community organizing efforts, and incorporates education for all stakeholders
•  Advance economic security and mobility for low- and moderate-income communities by increasing access 

to affordable housing, transportation options, good jobs, high-quality education, resources for healthy living, 
and opportunities for wealth creation 

• Respect local history and culture
• Acknowledge and address legacies of racial/ethnic inequality
• Promote resiliency for the built environment and for vulnerable populations
•  Connect to broader planning efforts, including those related to housing, transportation, economic 

development, and health

UNDERLYING VALUES OF THE MHPTF PROCESS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Page 65 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



DEVELOP A COORDINATED 
HOUSING SYSTEM 

Page 66 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Making housing a priority requires that it be a structural 
and organizational priority. Such an effort, though, cannot 
be carried out simply by commissions, boards and a 
loose network of nonprofits. It means the establishment 
of a coordinated system to leverage significant new 
funding for housing production, home rehabilitation and 
affordable housing preservation. It means the alignment 
of public and private sectors, services, regulations and 
funding requirements. It means that information needs to 
be used and distributed more effectively and efficiently, 
particularly so that the private and nonprofit sector 
capacity can be leveraged. And it means bridging the 
digital divide—which currently poses a challenge to the 
community in accessing information—will keep the City 
and its partners accountable for tracking and monitoring 
their investments and production targets. 

  Policy Priority: Prioritize housing and neighborhoods 
in the COSA organizational structure.

Essential to strengthening the fundamental structures 
that facilitate housing delivery will be the increased 
leadership, staffing and resources dedicated to the City’s 
organizational structure. 

  1. Strategy: Immediately create an executive 
position in the City Manager’s office to lead housing 
and neighborhood-related activities and integrate 
with all city functions.

Like San Antonio, cities experiencing housing-related 
problems are adopting policies, tools, and implementation 
strategies to counteract worsening affordability problems. 
Critical to the success of these strategies has been 
the appointment of an executive position or “chief 
housing officer”—an individual responsible for leading, 
coordinating, and ensuring the successful delivery of 
housing programs, systems, and dedicated funding. 

To ensure that San Antonio is successful in addressing 
and solving its housing affordability problems, the City 
will create a position that has a degree of autonomy and 
accountability to bring together the City’s housing-related 
functions, serve as administrator and political liaison, and 
who will coordinate and see through implementation 
actions and strategies in a transparent manner. 

  2. Strategy: Fully resource and staff the 
Neighborhood and Housing Services Department.

One of the more significant challenges for a city 
facilitating the delivery of housing programs, funding, 
and technical assistance is being properly staffed 
and resourced. It requires staff dedicated not only to 
production, rehabilitation, and preservation, but also 
to housing innovation and dedicated to creating and 
preserving high-quality affordable housing options, 

stabilizing neighborhoods, supporting residents and 
ensuring the long-term financial health of the organization. 

In 2017, the City created the Neighborhood and Housing 
Services Department (NHSD) to build expertise, expand 
capacity, and serve the community’s needs. To ensure its 
long-term success, the City should strategically add the 
staff and tools necessary for the department to be more 
productive, efficient and successful. Not only is the goal 
for NHSD to have more flexibility in responding to specific 
needs, such as tackling housing delivery efforts through 
the creation of a Finance and Production Unit, but also for 
having the flexibility to respond to people’s needs through 
the addition of Navigators. Such an investment would 
also enable the City to more globally provide resources, 
navigation and counsel to the communities where need 
exists. And because of San Antonio’s ethnic diversity, 
resources for these staff need to be in place to ensure that 
communication can take place in multiple formats and 
media for residents that may or may not speak English.

DEVELOP A COORDINATED HOUSING SYSTEM 28

P

S

S

The City of Denver’s Chief Housing Officer is an 
executive position who leads the efforts of a professional 
housing staff and reports directly to the Executive 
Director of the Office of Economic Development. The 
Chief’s responsibilities include managing the Housing 
Division’s  Comprehensive Housing Plan; providing 
leadership at the local, state and federal levels; 
establishing and maintaining systems for investment 
decisions, implementation, oversight and review; 
leading, managing, and directing staff and resources in 
development, programs/policies, finance, compliance 
and reporting; managing the creation of policies and 
reports for OED executive management, Mayor’s office,  
Housing Advisory Committee, commissions, boards, 
committees, and other elected officials; and numerous 
other strategic, supervisory, and leadership roles.

HOUSING CHIEF (DENVER, CO)

Staff designated to assist people access resources and 
resolve housing-related problems. Navigators would 
be familiar with the City’s housing system, the broader 
counseling and support services network, providers, and 
resources that individuals and families facing a full range of 
needs from homelessness to rapid re-housing may require.

WHAT IS A NAVIGATOR?

DEVELOP A COORDINATED HOUSING SYSTEMA

Page 67 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



DEVELOP A COORDINATED HOUSING SYSTEM29

  Policy Priority: COSA should take a leadership role in 
coordinating a community-wide housing system with 
housing and service providers.

The City’s role in a coordinated system should be to 
take a leadership position in organizing, facilitating, and 

sustaining efforts for the long term. But because housing 
needs are not limited to the city’s geographic boundaries, 
the coordinated system must be a collaboration and 
cooperation among regional jurisdictions, as well as 
private and nonprofit sector organizations engaged in 
the delivery of housing and services.

  1. Strategy: Fund a One-Stop Housing Center, 
including an online portal.

No one central location, either physical or digital, 
currently provides guidance to support San Antonians’ 
housing needs or information about how public, private 
and nonprofit funds are used, such as who provides 
affordable housing and what types are available. While 
much of this is captured by the City, San Antonio 
Housing Authority, Housing Authority of Bexar County, 
and San Antonio Apartment Association, coordination of 
their data and other resources will streamline participation 
and involvement for everyone. Such a single point of 
access will help the City align resources and leverage 
public investment with effectiveness and accountability.

S

The Los Angeles County Housing Resource Center 
provides information on rental housing; specialized 
housing resources for seniors, veterans and other 
populations; homebuyer information and more. The 
web-based portal supported by a call center is managed 
by an umbrella agency supported by the County of 
Los Angeles and includes the City of Los Angeles, local 
housing authority, smaller municipalities and non-
profits. Users are individuals, nonprofits, real estate 
agents and developers. 

ONE-STOP SHOP (LA COUNTY)

P

CASE STUDY  |  Non-Profit Organizations Build Homes in Communities

San Antonio is home to a number of nonprofit, community-based organizations focused on revitalizing areas and 
underserved neighborhoods that have experienced significant disinvestment. While many of these organizations are 
developing affordable rental and homeownership housing, they are also involved in a range of initiatives critical to 
community health such as economic development, neighborhood planning, and provision of education and social services 
to neighborhood residents. 

As an example, Prospera is providing quality affordable housing and supportive services to assist individuals, families and 
communities grow and prosper. Prospera began its efforts by acquiring multifamily properties that were designated for 
removal from the affordable housing market. Today, it owns and manages 19 affordable communities in the region serving 
nearly 10,000 low-income individuals. Through a wide range of supportive services, Prospera enhances opportunities for 
personal and professional success.

Page 68 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



DEVELOP A COORDINATED HOUSING SYSTEM 30

To increase the reach to individuals and families in 
need of affordable housing, the City along with housing 
organizations and service-providers should establish a 
“one-stop shop” Housing Center. A one-stop shop can 
also better align housing functions, including planning 
and permitting, human services, historic preservation, 
and housing, as well as the nonprofit and philanthropic 
communities. At a minimum, it should track and make 
public who is receiving/awarded housing incentives; 
where available affordable housing units can be found; 
and policies regarding construction and administration of 
affordable housing programs. Above all, this resource’s 
purpose is to enhance the effectiveness, accountability 
and visibility of the City’s various services and initiatives, 
and to be responsive to the many residents in need of 
housing assistance.

Beyond a physical presence, like a handful of cities that 
have expanded their coordinated housing systems with 
digital presence, the City could establish an online portal 
to serve as a central resource for both providers and the 
community to access information. 

New York University Furman Center serves as 
New York City’s housing and neighborhoods 
data hub. This resource is one of the more 
comprehensive examples of housing affordability, 
resource, and need data available from a full 
spectrum of sources. The website tracks and maps 
all subsidized housing, demographics (households 
by income, race, and poverty), labor market 
information, housing market data (inventory, sales, 
median prices, volume of sales, rents, and cost 
burden), land use and development conditions 
(density and development projects), as well as 
neighborhood services and conditions (such as 
crime and incarceration rates, student performance, 
and commuting patterns). 

REAL-TIME DATA MANAGEMENT 
(NEW YORK CITY)

CASE STUDY  |  District 5 Equitable Housing Pilot

In response to constituent needs and recommendations from financial and investor representatives, Councilwoman 
Shirley Gonzales initiated the District 5 Housing Pilot. Its goal is to stimulate public and private investments that respect 
the cultural and historical assets of the Westside, protect low and moderate-income residents from predatory market 
activity and mitigate involuntary displacement. 

In April 2018, over 400 residents attended a Housing Fair at the Mexican American Unity Council (MAUC) that launched 
the Neighborhood Housing Center, which would provide a central access point for housing-related services. MAUC and 
housing-service partners are collaborating to connect residents to a wide-range of public, non-profit, and profit sector 
rehab and infill resources for home owners and renters.

Simultaneously, the pilot launched a prototype for providing estate planning and property title clearance services by 
the UTSA Center for Public Policy, as well as the delivery of workshops for small developers by NALCAB. In addition, the 
LiftFund developed a training and certification program for local contractors and is establishing an equitable housing 
revitalization fund to service San Antonio’s urban core.

Page 69 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE CITY 
INVESTMENT IN HOUSING

Page 70 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE CITY INVESTMENT IN HOUSING

Reduced support from federal and state housing finance 
agencies, coupled with escalating land and construction 
costs, have created an environment where fewer than 
500 affordable housing units are being developed 
annually (predominately through the federal Low-
Income Housing Tax Credit program). Compounding the 
problem, the Housing Trust Fund, initially capitalized 
with $10 million in 1988, has not received a substantial 
injection of new monies since it was established. 
Additionally, aging housing stock threatens the stability 
of legacy neighborhoods, as homes fall into disrepair. As 
illustrated in the problem statements, in 2016 there were 
approximately 36,000 currently occupied homes built 
before 1940. 

This acknowledges a gaping disconnect between the 
City’s needs, aspirations and its funding priorities of the 
past. Stemming from the belief that the global perspective 
must shift so that housing is understood as an essential 
component of the economic infrastructure, the City should 
significantly increase the amount of investment it makes 
available to new and existing affordable housing. 

  Policy Priority: Develop a 10-year funding plan for 
affordable housing production and preservation.

A 10-year projection shows that the city’s housing 
mismatch will increase by another 29,600 units (at 
critical income levels of rental and ownership). To 
counter this, the City should invest in a comprehensive 
production, preservation and rehabilitation effort capable 
of eliminating more than 60 percent of this 10-year 
estimated growth in the housing gap.

In order for the City to create and sustain a stable, reliable, 
and robust affordable housing infrastructure, it must work 
to create new permanent funding sources and leverage 
existing programs including HOME, CDBG, Urban Renewal 
Funds, HOPWA, developer incentives (ICRIP and CCHIP), 
low income housing tax credits, the Housing Choice 
Voucher Program and the Housing Trust. 

  1. Strategy: Substantially increase general fund 
revenue for affordable housing.

Public funding reflects public priorities. Over the next 
five years, the City anticipates spending approximately 
$2.6 billion for water infrastructure, $3 billion for energy 
infrastructure, and nearly $1 billion on transportation, but 
only $64 million of General Fund dollars on housing. At 
a level similar to the foregone city tax revenue dedicated 
to center city housing during the past seven to eight 
years, the City should substantially increase its allocation 
of funding to affordable housing. This may require a 
reprioritization of funds or it could utilize revenues that 
exceed annual budget projections from specific sources 
(such as SAWS or CPS Energy). Whatever the source and 
however funds may be shifted, the City should reconsider 
how use of public funds reflects public priorities.

  2. Strategy: Create dedicated revenue source(s) for 
affordable housing.

While council-approved General Fund allocations 
for housing investment make an affirmative public 
statement in support of addressing housing problems, 

P

S

S

Pairing public and private resources means reduced risk 
and new investment, and it typically yields a total of 
three to five times the initial public investment. Rather 
than a tidal wave of change that swamps precariously 
positioned San Antonio families, a rising tide will improve 
the lives of all. 

LEVERAGE

The City funded the Inner-City Reinvestment 
and Infill Policy (ICRIP) and Center City Housing 
Incentive Policy (CCHIP) programs through a 
combination of fee waivers, tax rebates, and 
other sources. Created to implement an economic 
development policy centered on downtown 
revitalization, job creation and attracting middle 
and upper-income residents to the urban core, 
the “Decade of Downtown” is largely viewed as 
successful in reaching its goal of creating 7,500 
new rental units.
 
As the City finalizes its revisions to the CCHIP 
policy, now is the opportunity to structure a new 
program where any project seeking incentives 
would be required to include an affordability 
component. Such a program should specify the 
percent of new housing units that should be 
affordable, the income targets for those housing 
units, the length of the affordability period, and 
the level of incentives, such as a property tax 
rebate, that should be granted to the project. 

ACTION THROUGH INCENTIVES

INCREASE CITY INVESTMENT IN HOUSING 32

A

Page 71 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE CITY INVESTMENT IN HOUSING33

In 2000, the City Council decided that as city lands 
were sold for development, 40 percent of the city tax 
revenues should go into the Housing Trust Fund. A 
decade and a half later, City Council determined that 
100 percent of city tax revenue from these sales should 
go to housing programs. Since then, the approach has 
been widened to funnel all city tax revenues from all 
government-owned land into affordable housing. In 
2018 alone, that has amounted to a dedicated resource 
of more than $2 million.

SALE OF PUBLIC LANDS (AUSTIN)

such commitments are constantly at risk of being 
overshadowed by shorter-term interests. 

Like San Antonio, this is among the primary reasons 
why cities are looking to establish or have established 
dedicated portions of public revenues (such as property, 
sales, or even lodging taxes) to housing. Using a dedicated 
portion of ad valorem tax revenues is an appropriate and 
effective way to fund affordable housing needs because 
it means that resources become available to the greatest 
extent when they are needed the most.

If, for example, San Antonio had dedicated 20 percent 
of its increase in annual ad valorem tax revenues 
(approximately $100 million) between 2013 and 2018, an 
additional $20 million for affordable housing purposes 
would have been generated. 

  3. Strategy: Establish financial leverage as a top 
priority in the utilization of public funds, including 
private, nonprofit, and philanthropic resources as 
well as sweat equity.

The LIHTC model is one of the more successful national 
examples of leveraged public-private funds. It grants state 
and local allocating agencies up to $8 billion in budget 
authority to issue federal income tax credits to investors, 
which create opportunities to leverage and deploy billions 

of dollars in local capital resources that place more than 
108,000 units in service every year. 

As other traditional resources (such as HOME and CDBG) 
dry up, cities that allocate local funds to affordable 
housing are not only seizing the opportunity to ensure 
that funds can be used more flexibly than federal 
resources, but also that they are utilized with similar 
leverage-seeking mechanisms (yielding a total of three 
to five times the initial public investment). Because 
San Antonio has more than one institutional affordable 
housing entity (i.e. NHSD, SAHA, SAHT), the opportunity 
exists to leverage funding at both the institutional 
and project levels. As a component of identifying and 
dedicating local resources to its housing affordability 
problems, the City should diversify and leverage existing 
public and private funding sources, and define the terms 
of leverage, including metrics for tracking. 

  4. Strategy: Conduct a comprehensive assessment 
of the Housing Trust and provide a dedicated 
revenue source.

Housing Trusts are one of the more successful 
organizational models established to produce, preserve 
and rehabilitate low-income and affordable housing, 
acquire land, and provide gap financing. Nationally, 
hundreds of models like the San Antonio Housing Trust 
(SAHT) have become assets to their community’s housing 
system. There is, however, no one-size fits all model that 
defines the functions and activities of a housing trust. As 
a result, the mission of housing trusts and their funds vary 
widely. 

To ensure its future relevancy and effectiveness, the City 
should within the next year undertake a comprehensive 
third-party assessment of SAHT’s priorities, management, 
leadership, production, budgeting and investment profiles, 
and develop a strategy not only to increase its staff 
capacity, accountability and transparency, but also to grow 
the corpus of its Trust Fund to align with City priorities 
and increase its production capacity. This assessment 
should include, but not be limited to: (1) the feasibility of 
expanding its bond issuance capacity, (2) the elimination 
of the need for City Council approval of 4 percent tax-
exempt bonds, (3) exploration of support or guarantees 
for HFC issuances to reduce rates and/or secure additional 

Short-term rentals were illegal in the Big Easy until 
April 2017. Since then, more than 4,400 licenses have 
been issued, nearly 75 percent allow entire homes 
to be rented. Due to the controversy this licensing 
has caused, New Orleans has become one of the 
first to establish a $1 per night fee earmarked for its 
Neighborhood Housing Improvement Fund to combat 
the displacement that has resulted. Although the fee is 
only a year old and has been criticized as insufficient to 
respond in proportion to the problem, the City’s efforts 
have led to a greater public dialogue about prioritizing 
housing for its residents. 

A frequently-cited success story in the adoption of a 
local funding source is Seattle. Since 1981, city voters 
have passed one housing bond and five housing 
levies, which have collectively produced more than 
10,000 affordable apartments, and provided first-time 
homebuyer loans and rental assistance to more than 
4,000 households. Voters approved the most recent 
seven-year levy by over 70 percent, with $290 million 
dedicated to producing, preserving, reinvesting, and 
supporting operations for over 3,000 units. 

SHORT-TERM RENTAL FEE 
(NEW ORLEANS, LA)

BOND ISSUE (SEATTLE, WA)

S

S

Page 72 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE CITY INVESTMENT IN HOUSING 34

CASE STUDY  |  Place-Based Community Initiative

Efforts to transform neighborhoods of extreme poverty and 
disinvestment into places of opportunity often face mounting 
obstacles including distressed public housing, failing schools, 
joblessness, poor health, violence, and lack of political will or 
financial resources. A comprehensive community initiative led 
by the San Antonio Housing Authority (SAHA) in partnership 
with the Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD) and numerous public and private partners is addressing 
these neighborhood challenges in San Antonio’s Eastside. 

Through several White House Neighborhood Revitalization 
Initiative grants—including the Choice Neighborhood, Promise 
Neighborhood, the Byrne Criminal Justice Innovation, and the 
federal Promise Zone designation—SAHA began implementing a comprehensive place-based initiative at the Wheatley 
Courts Public Housing and surrounding community. The Choice Neighborhood Implementation grant awarded in 2012 
provided $29,750,000 towards the redevelopment, which has leveraged over $180 million in investments to date. 

The complete transformation of Wheatley Courts to East Meadows will include 622 new mixed-income rental housing 
units, significant public improvements, funding for improved business facades, owner occupied rehab of privately-
owned single-family homes, the creation of new single-family ownership houses and the coordination of crime-reducing 
strategies and activities. Three of the four housing redevelopment phases have been completed, each of which has less 
than three (3) percent vacancy. This community is currently home to 503 mixed-income family and senior households. 
Construction on the final phase of 119 mixed-income housing units began in June 2018 and will be completed by 
December 2019. 

Families have access to an on-site BiblioTech digital library, a theatre and game room, exercise area and laundry facilities. 
To improve the health of residents and workers in the neighborhood, SAHA partnered with University Health System to 
build a new state of the art clinic, the Dr. Robert L.M. Hilliard Center, which opened in January 2018. 

The City should explore dedicating a larger percent 
of a TIRZ increment captured for affordable housing, 
expanding TIRZ to SA Tomorrow regional centers and 
transit corridors to fund affordable housing; expanding 
them to apply to land and property previously-owned 
by government institutions; exploring the issuance of 
revenue bonds within a TIRZ to create a predictable 
and low-cost source of capital for lending and 
investment; exploring the creation of a citywide Tax 
Increment Loan Program to leverage excess TIRZ funds 
as well as auditing the TIRZ program to determine 
program performance.

TAX INCREMENT 
REINVESTMENT ZONE (TIRZ)

capital, (4) exploration of tax-exempt revenue bonds 
for affordable single-family home construction, and (5) 
guidance on serving the needs of the community by 
income level, particularly households at or below 60 
percent AMI. 

  5. Strategy: Revise the City Charter to allow bond 
revenue to be used for affordable housing.

One of the more common local regulatory barriers to 
funding affordable housing efforts is that the use of 
public funds is often limited to a “public purpose”. The 
experience of most cities is that affordable housing is not 
yet acknowledged as infrastructure with a public purpose. 
Currently, the City Charter allows for General Obligation 
bonds to be used for major capital investments having a 
public purpose, such as streets, drainage, public safety 
facilities, flood control and quality of life enhancements 
such as libraries, parks, community recreation, cultural 
facilities and the elimination of slums and blight. Amending 
the City Charter to allow for bond revenues to be used for 
affordable housing means that funds can be leveraged 
at scale to make significant contributions to production, 
preservation, and rehabilitation needs of the community. 

Beyond these five core recommendations, given the 
power of public-private investment leverage to more 
effectively tackle the city’s affordable housing needs, the 
City should identify any and all funds to supplement these 
resources. This might include evaluating opportunities to 
roll available budget surpluses into affordable housing, 

allocating excess funds, and exploring models for investing 
a percentage of city reserves in affordable housing. And 
while such efforts would certainly prove successful, the 
City could also work with its municipal and regional 
partners to advocate for new state funding and financing 
mechanisms that benefit affordable housing issues. 
Yet, whatever the investment and source, they should 
be accompanied by a requirement for follow-through 
and accountability.

S

Page 73 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
PRODUCTION, REHABILITATION, 
AND PRESERVATION

Page 74 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



A INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION,  
REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION

INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION, REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION 36

At the core of the affordable housing problem is a lack 
of housing production. The City should strive to achieve 
balance in the location of affordable housing throughout 
San Antonio to facilitate choice among renter and owner 
households across the income spectrum, taking into 
account access to public transportation, employment 
opportunities and cultural assets. It should be recognized 
that the existing housing stock is not being fully or most 
efficiently utilized to meet the needs of the growing 
population, and there are significant swaths of the city’s 
housing stock that are badly in need of repair, particularly 
housing for the city’s elderly population. 

The main thrust of this recommendation aligns with other 
City housing goals and targets, such as the desire to see a 
variety and choice of housing made available to residents 
in proximity to transit, services and amenities within the 
city’s regional centers. 

  Policy Priority: Stabilize the HOMEOWNERSHIP 
rate in San Antonio by increasing the production, 
preservation, and rehabilitation of affordable homes.

The stabilization of the homeownership rate in San 
Antonio, including across racial, ethnic and economic 
segments, is a high priority. Very few “starter homes” 
(homes prices below $200,000) are being built, and 
there are a variety of challenges to rehabilitating existing 
homes, especially older homes in the urban core. Further, 
low- to moderate-income buyers face challenges to 
securing financing, even when they are able to identify 
a house that they can afford. A comprehensive strategy 
to supporting homeownership requires a full spectrum 
menu of incentives, homebuyer education, down payment 
assistance programs, programs to support owner occupied 
rehabilitation for vulnerable populations, and efforts to 
catalyze more rehabilitation financing.

  1. Strategy: Prioritize city funding/incentives for 
ownership housing affordable to households up to 
120 percent of AMI.

Just as the City Charter should be amended to recognize 
that affordable housing is infrastructure, public 
investments in housing should reflect public priorities. 
Analysis shows a concerning loss in ownership housing 
for households up to 120 percent AMI. Because federal 
resources are generally restricted to housing at or below 
80 percent AMI, innovative local solutions like targeted 
incentives, tax abatements and/or fee waivers could 
expand ownership opportunities for families in these 
income categories. To respond to the distribution of 
need by income level, the City should focus a graduated 

set of development incentives to support the delivery of 
affordable housing (corresponding to 80, 100, and 120 
percent AMI) to reflect priority, the degree of need, and 
the reality that producing, preserving or rehabilitating 
housing at deeper affordability levels requires greater gap 
financing.8  For example, projects that provide ownership 
housing affordable to households at 80 percent AMI or for 
special needs or vulnerable populations would be eligible 
for the highest incentive, whereas projects that provided 
housing for households at 120 percent would receive a 
lower incentive.

  2. Strategy: Increase funding for down payment 
assistance and homebuyer counseling.

As the homeownership rate falls and the number of 
new households taking on a mortgage decreases, the 
City should encourage home ownership by significantly 
increasing support of public-private partnerships that 
provide down payment assistance grants or loans as well 
as home buyer and owner education. Successful down 
payment assistance programs become perpetual and 
self-funding over time, which means greater resources 
available for services such as home purchase and 
financing counseling, maintenance, budgeting, code 
compliance, and neighborhood safety, among others. 

Programs that accomplish these objectives are of 
great interest to numerous stakeholders, including the 
business community, because adequate housing supply 
and affordability are key among business development 
decisions. Not only are they critical to individual financial 
empowerment and economic mobility, but also to paving 
a path for the renter community to seek homeownership, 
and to helping individuals and households struggling to 
manage the cost burden from mounting student loan 
debt, health care costs, and related housing expenses. 

P

S

S

The International Economic Development Council (IEDC) 
lists approximately 12 considerations that businesses look 
for in evaluating development prospects. Among these are a 
business-friendly environment, a growing market, and access 
to capital as well as infrastructure-related considerations like 
access to labor, real estate and housing, cost of living, and 
quality of life. 

IMPORTANCE OF HOUSING TO BUSINESS

8. In this context, the production, preservation or rehabilitation of affordable 
ownership housing should be paired with a covenant or deed restriction identifying 
the length that the house should remain affordable, such as 15, 30 or more years.

Page 75 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION, REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION37

  3. Strategy: Increase funding for housing rehab 
programs including, but not limited to: Owner 
Occupied Rehabilitation, Under One Roof and 
Minor Repair.

Leaders are beginning to articulate the philosophy that 
“the most affordable home is the one you already have,” 
and through the MHPTF process the community agreed 
that policies should support resident choice to stay in their 
current neighborhood. San Antonio’s city leaders have 
already acknowledged the core of this belief in piloting 
its “Under One Roof” and Minor Repair programs. But as 
projections indicate, the City could lose thousands more 
ownership units by 2030. 

Expanding and increasing investment in these programs 
means reaching more households, recognizing the need 
to reinvest in substandard housing, preserving naturally-
occurring affordable housing, and stemming the tide. Like 
its other efforts, the City should also seek to leverage 
its investment in these programs with partners like the 
nonprofit sector through incenting and building their 
capacity to educate owners and renters; for example, on 
predatory repair and/or rehab practices. 

  Policy Priority: Increase rehabilitation, production 
and preservation of affordable RENTAL units.

In much of San Antonio, rental housing priced at 80 
percent of AMI (approximately $985 per month) is 
essentially market-rate housing. Community input and 
data analysis revealed that the real need is for housing to 
serve households earning 60 percent AMI or lower. 

Because extensive research has demonstrated that the 
zip code where a household lives significantly determines 
the opportunity available to them, and particularly for 
children, investments in affordable housing should be 
connected by transit, jobs, cultural assets, including 
health resources. 

  1. Strategy: Prioritize City funding and incentives 
on rent-restricted units affordable to households up 
to 60 percent AMI, with a graduated reduction in 
funding/incentives from 60 to 80 percent AMI.

Approximately half of renter households in San Antonio 
spend more than 30 percent of their income on housing. 
Although cities are prohibited by state statute from 
regulating or restricting rents, it does not prohibit 
municipalities from offering development incentives for 

voluntarily providing rent-restricted housing. Many 
cities whose renter populations face high rates of 
cost burden and that are statutorily prohibited from 
restricting rents have adopted voluntary compliance 
policies that give incentives to developers choosing to 
build affordable housing. 

Just as the City seeks to incent more home ownership, 
it should simultaneously create a system of graduated 
incentives (like fee waivers or direct subsidies) for rental 
projects that meet supply needs at 30 percent, 60 
percent, and potentially up to 80 percent AMI. Because 
the gap in rental housing for households under 60 percent 
AMI is projected to increase from a 34,000-unit mismatch 
to an estimated 53,000-unit mismatch by 2030, the City 
should make incentives available for production and 
preservation at these income levels. Such support could 
come in the form of conditional loans or tax assessment 
relief to rental property owners who create or maintain 
certain affordability levels.9 As with the graduated 
incentives made available to projects with affordable 
ownership housing, the City should develop an incentive 
program with graduated incentives that give priority and 
the highest incentive available to rental housing produced, 
rehabilitated or preserved that meets the needs of 
households at 60 percent or below. Such a program would 
specify the portion of new housing units that should be 
affordable, the income targets for those housing units, 
the length of the affordability period, and the level of 
incentives, such as a property tax rebate and fee waivers, 
that should be granted to the project. 

  2. Strategy: Prioritize funding for new rental units in 
communities that are linked with transportation, jobs 
and cultural assets.

Housing policies targeted to reducing housing cost burden 
are most effective when they also reduce transportation 
cost burden. In a “drive-’til-you-qualify” context, renter 
households seeking affordable rents are also priced out of 
neighborhoods close to their jobs, schools, and shopping. 
In a community that takes great pride in its 300-year 
old heritage and culture, proximity to cultural assets 
and sense of place should be central to the prioritization 
of resources. 

The City should prioritize investment and support of rental 
housing oriented around jobs, transit or with increased 
access to low-cost transportation, where land use is 
maximized for efficiency, and where cultural assets are 
aligned. Especially as entities like VIA are planning and 
investing in transit-oriented development, the City 
should seize this opportunity for broad alignment of 
both objectives. As with other policies, such efforts 
should acknowledge and seek to mitigate the potential 
for displacement. 

9. In this context, the production, preservation or rehabilitation of affordable rental 
housing should be paired with a covenant or deed restriction identifying the length 
that the house should remain affordable, such as 15, 30 or more years.

San Antonio should support the creation of a revolving 
loan fund for rehabilitation purposes with well-
established guidelines for low-interest or deferred-
interest loans that could be partially forgivable, and 
that provide clear title assistance and contractor 
vetting. Such a mechanism would also recapitalize City 
investments to make every dollar go farther.

REVOLVING LOAN FUND

P

S

S

S

Page 76 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION, REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION 38

CASE STUDY  |  Creative Funding: Museum Reach Lofts

Developed by the non-profit Alamo Community Group, Museum Reach Lofts is the first affordable apartment project in 
the Midtown Regional Center. Located at the northern edge of Downtown in the Pearl area—which has the most expensive 
rents in the city—this five-story infill development will include 94 apartment units. Of these apartments, eight will be 
market-rate, and 86 will be restricted to families earning 30, 50, and 60 percent AMI, where rental payments will be 
restricted to no more than 30 percent of a family’s income. 

Located in a transit-rich, high-opportunity zone, this development provides critically needed affordable housing for 
the many lower-wage employment opportunities that have been created recently in the area. While the project utilizes 
sought-after competitive 9 percent Low Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC), this funding resource is simply not enough 
to close the funding gap. Land is expensive, construction costs on higher-intensity buildings are high, and code-required 
parking minimums add a huge amount of cost in structured parking. To close this funding gap, the Midtown TIRZ (Tax 
Increment Reinvestment Zone) provided funding for land acquisition. This is one of the first times that a TIRZ has assisted 
with land acquisition and demonstrates how this key tool can be leveraged in the production of affordable housing. 
Construction on the project begins in Spring 2019.

  Policy Priority: Create housing opportunities for the 
most vulnerable residents (including but not limited 
to homeless, seniors, youth aging out of the foster 
care system, and people with disabilities).

Everyone should have a place to call home. Everyone 
needs access to safe and affordable housing. For some 
of the most vulnerable people in the community—people 
with mental illness, chronic health conditions, histories 
of trauma, substance abuse or drug addiction, a record 
with the justice system, and other struggles—a home 
with supportive services helps them start on the path 
toward stability. 

People facing these issues often end up in crisis housing 
situations or homeless. Supportive housing or service-
enriched housing is an effective strategy that combines 

The U.S. Department of Transportation’s (DOT) Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) selected nine cities to 
receive technical assistance to encourage economic 
development around local transit service. San Antonio 
was one of those communities. The initiative is a 
four-year project to assist in implementing compact, 
mixed-use, equitable development around transit 
stations. VIA and the City will work together to build 
communities oriented around the live-work-play 
mentality that allow people access to transportation 
services that benefit their everyday lives. 

TRANSIT-ORIENTED COMMUNITIES P

Page 77 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION, REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION39

affordable housing with coordinated services. The 
supportive housing model is based on the premise that 
providing supportive services on site or in proximity to the 
housing site helps residents remain housed and live with 
some level of independence.

Supportive housing can also aid people with disabilities 
in getting better health care, help seniors trying to stay in 
the community as they age, and youth aging out of the 
foster care system. In fact, studies have shown that people 
in supportive housing use costly systems like emergency 
health services less frequently. 

Housing that is targeted to vulnerable populations 
requires greater cross-sector partnerships, coordination 
across city and county systems, and multiple sources of 
funding. Initially, the cost of developing and maintaining 
housing and can require a modestly higher level of 
public investment as well as, in some cases, different 
underwriting criteria. On the other hand, investments in 
service-enriched housing can substantially reduce other 
public costs.

  1. Strategy: Increase funding for 
service-enriched housing.

Funding for supportive housing is scarce. Federal funds 
are essential but insufficient to finance the supportive 
housing units. To expand housing options for vulnerable 
populations, the City should work with the County, private 
and non-profit organizations, social service providers 
and health care systems to leverage federal funds and 
dedicate new local funding for service-enriched housing. 
This includes dedicating funding sources to build, 
rehab or retrofit housing units; and coordinating 
supportive services including intensive case management, 
substance abuse or mental health counseling, advocacy, 
and job training.

Special populations should not be marginalized or 
overly-concentrated in a specific location or geography 
but be representative of the geographic diversity of 
vulnerable populations throughout the city. While 
addressing underlying factors is a problem that requires 
a more fundamental shift in policy, it is recommended 
that the City work with its partners to promote Service 
Enriched Housing Communities which includes permanent 
supportive housing. This will not only serve to enhance 
equity and social inclusion, but also serve in the larger 
efforts to build community. 

  Policy Priority: Remove barriers to 
housing production.

An expansion of housing supply is facilitated not only 
through greater funding and incentives, but through 
greater production and administrative efficiencies. 
Some of the most entrenched barriers to affordable 
housing, however, are not only buried deep within a 
city’s regulatory environment, but also within opposition 
to development and/or additional density. Ironically, it 
is the addition of density, particularly in environments 

where either land supply is constrained or land costs are 
increasing, that should be leveraged to achieve greater 
affordability. It is zoning processes that often lead to 
less density.

Minimum lot sizes, minimum home sizes, maximum 
densities, street minimum rights-of-way, exclusionary 
zoning, and the lack of provisions for accessory dwelling 
units (ADU) create significant land use development 
barriers. Regulatory barriers can also extend development 
review time that increases the cost and risk associated 
with any development. That is, even developers seeking 
to create or preserve affordable housing face risks and 
uncertainties associated with regulation and development 
review that materially impact development costs. Where 
the City can, it should seek to reduce the uncertainty and 
risks associated with these elements. 

As such, it is recommended that the Mayor/City Council 
establish an ad hoc advisory group called the Technical 
Working Group (TWG) on Removing Barriers to the 
Production and Preservation of Affordable Housing, 
composed of informed community members that 
represent diverse neighborhoods as well as experts with 
specific technical knowledge in development, zoning, and 
regulation. Such a TWG would be advised by City staff, 
but City staff would not serve as members. The group 
would be tasked with revisions to San Antonio’s Unified 
Development Code (UDC).

Additionally, it is recommended that the Mayor/City 
Council create a committee to coordinate a community-
driven and inclusive public process to develop the vision, 
goals and criteria for enabling Form Based Code and By-
Right Zoning for affordable housing.

According to the Form-Based Codes Institute, by-right 
zoning is critically important to increasing housing 
affordability at all levels of the housing spectrum. To 
accomplish this, conventional zoning codes should be 
updated to form-based codes (FBC) that effectively 
prescribe the outcome desired by the community. FBCs 
regulate the form of the buildings in a prescriptive manner 
and at a sufficient level of detail so that the outcome is 
predictable. This means that the conventional design 
review process is unnecessary, enabling by-right review. To 
accomplish this, communities should: 1) create a detailed 
community vision; 2) write prescriptive regulations; and 3) 
enable a by-right approval process.

  1. Strategy: Undertake an inclusive public process to 
determine standards and criteria to allow by-right 
zoning for housing developments in which at least 
50 percent of the units are affordable.

By-right zoning often faces difficulties when communities 
or the public feel that their voices or concerns have not 
been heard. Important to the outcome of this inclusive 
public process will be solid community-supported 
agreement on criteria for where, to what extent, and 
through what type of process by-right zoning can be 

P

S

S

Page 78 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



INCREASE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PRODUCTION, REHABILITATION, AND PRESERVATION 40

CASE STUDY  |  Cross Timber Homes
 
The post-recession recovery has led 
to a rapid escalation in housing prices 
and worsening affordability problems 
for San Antonio’s moderate-income 
families looking to buy a home. 
 
Habitat for Humanity, a non-profit 
organization that provides ownership 
opportunities for low-income families 
in our community, has expanded its 
services to assist the growing number 
of moderate-income families access 
homeownership. With Habitat’s 
assistance, a new initiative called Cross 
Timber Homes was launched in 2017 to 
address these growing needs.

Cross Timber Homes’ first project 
included the construction of 3 
bedroom/2 bathroom homes with 
energy-efficiency features. In less than a year, Cross Timber has completed six of these homes on San Antonio’s near 
Eastside with four more under construction in the near Westside. Buyers have included a teacher, restaurant managers, 
a bank teller, a nursing assistant, and public-sector employees—jobs that are an essential component of San Antonio’s 
community workforce. Cross Timber demonstrates that affordable and context-sensitive infill development is possible 
with policy changes and dedicated funding support.

allowed. And because conflict often arises in disagreement 
over criteria for location, such as proximity to transit, 
jobs or corridors, and allowable densities, the City should 
approach this effort strategically so that new conflicts 
do not inadvertently arise that thwart greater affordable 
housing goals and objectives. 

  2. Strategy: Exempt affordable housing units from 
SAWS impact fees. 

Fee waivers are one of the more common tools to 
incenting affordable housing production. While this can 
require an upfront cultural change, affordable housing 
is frequently exempted from development impact fees 
in growth management policies that fund water, streets, 
parks, and other infrastructure systems. And because 
fees are frequently updated to ensure that new growth is 
“paying its way”, the City can update its fees structures to 
reflect affordable housing as a priority. For communities 
experiencing substantial growth like San Antonio where 
revenue collections occasionally exceed projections, 
adding an exemption may be simple. For communities 
with lower rates of growth, impact fee structures can 
either be modified to reflect this exemption and balance 
overall objectives or annual fee waivers caps can be 
designated. Specifically, the City should exempt affordable 
housing on a per unit basis from SAWS impact fees.

  3. Strategy: Revise the UDC to remove regulatory 
barriers to affordable housing.

As mentioned on the previous page, local regulations 
and fees can collectively be a significant barrier to the 
production of affordable housing. This is particularly true 
for smaller and infill projects where, for example, SAWS 
impact fees make up a large portion of development 
soft costs. Overall, it is recognized that there is a 
balance between regulations that ensure public safety 
and neighborhood form and the need to increase the 
production of affordable housing Identifying that balance 
requires additional review by technical experts and 
individuals that represent diverse neighborhoods.

In the process as described above to review the 
UDC, the TWG should begin thoughtful and detailed 
recommendations of the Housing Commission that 
were forwarded to Council in 2017, but not enacted. The 
TWG should ensure that documentation of the inclusive 
public process around any UDC revisions as well as 
recommendations be forwarded to the reconstituted 
Housing Commission for final review and recommendation 
to the Mayor and Council, understanding that the ultimate 
adoption of any changes would likely occur in 2020 
when the next regularly scheduled revision of the UDC 
is anticipated.

S

S

Page 79 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROTECT AND PROMOTE 
NEIGHBORHOODS

Page 80 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROTECT AND PROMOTE NEIGHBORHOODSA

In this period of population growth, it is necessary to 
understand and proactively address the impacts of rising 
property taxes on homeowners and the issues of housing 
displacement. On one hand, increasing property taxes 
resulting from sharply increasing real estate appraisals are 
becoming a barrier to housing affordability and a potential 
driver of displacement for low- and moderate-income 
renters and homeowners. On the other hand, increased 
revenue from rising appraisals presents an opportunity to 
support housing affordability without causing fiscal strain 
on municipalities, schools and other taxing districts. 

  Policy Priority: Address the impact of rising taxes on 
housing affordability.

This set of recommendations stems from the belief 
that because of this situation, the time is ripe for 
implementation of targeted tax exemptions, appraisal 
protection measures, and other districting techniques 
focused on addressing housing affordability.

  1. Strategy: Implement immediately affordable 
housing tax and appraisal protection measures such 
as tax exemptions, preservation districts, and TIFs.

Analysis of housing cost burden shows that of the 
105,000 owner households with no mortgage, nearly 
12,000 are still spending more than 30 percent of their 
income on housing. This isn’t just a problem for owner 
households, it’s a problem for renters seeking to become 
homeowners, it’s a problem for those moving here, and 
it’s a problem for those who work and would like to live 
here. But implementing property tax relief is complicated. 
Exempting property taxes requires the City to carefully 
balance the provisions with revenues against competing 
fiscal, economic and social priorities, such as paying for 
schools, hospitals, and infrastructure. 

Throughout this process, the community voiced a mandate 
that the City address this issue. This means identifying 
mechanisms such as property tax relief, preservation 
districts, or the use of tax increment financing and 
targeting populations with the greatest need, such as 

longtime or low- and moderate-income households. And 
because these challenges cannot be solved unilaterally, 
the City should engage with other jurisdictions in 
coordinated advocacy efforts, for example, to push for 
comprehensive property tax reform at the state level.

 Policy Priority: Prevent and mitigate displacement.

Stable housing positively impacts and creates community 
sustainability. The City’s real approach to preventing 
displacement is to increase housing opportunities by 
investing in home repairs, rehabilitation, preservation 
and production of housing. Preventing and mitigating 
displacement means encouraging and protecting a 
community from unwarranted and destructive change. 
Displacement can be direct, i.e. evictions or demolitions 
of occupied housing, or indirect, i.e. through rising real 
estate values and large-scale public investments that 
create value at the local and regional level but also drive 
up housing costs for both renters and homeowners and 
result in the redevelopment of rental properties that house 
vulnerable populations. 

In the recent past, San Antonio has studied the 
circumstances of vulnerable populations, especially in 
neighborhoods experiencing rapid real estate market 
appreciation. The intent of this policy priority is to 
make strategic investments in preventing, minimizing 
and mitigating displacement in particularly vulnerable 
neighborhoods that are both experiencing redevelopment 
and those anticipated to be in the path of redevelopment. 
This applies to both direct and indirect displacement. 

The development of this policy must include a range 
of strategies and programs to protect renters, promote 
community ownership, and stabilize neighborhoods. 
The development of this policy also requires that the 
City complete, and the Council adopt, a set of relocation 
assistance policies to assist low-income individuals and 
families that are involuntarily displaced from their homes. 

To establish the policy and guidelines, the City should 
develop an inclusive public process with participation 
of individuals that have been displaced or are at risk 
of being displaced, and that includes the following 
essential elements. 

  1. Strategy: Require public agencies to conduct a 
displacement impact assessment for any public 
project that receives $15 million or more in public 
investment and to budget for mitigation.

In the same way that the National Environmental Policy 
Act (NEPA) requires major transportation construction 
projects, such as highways, to conduct a socioeconomic 

P

S

S
In combination with Homestead Preservation 
Reinvestment Zones, HPDs can provide a dedicate 
funding stream to reinvest in affordability within high 
need areas. Tax Increment Reinvestment Zones (TIRZ), 
such as the ones already successful in San Antonio, can 
be set up under state law to ensure that dollars from 
economic development efforts are reinvested in the 
affordability needs of that area.

HOMESTEAD PRESERVATION DISTRICT (HDP)

PROTECT AND PROMOTE NEIGHBORHOODS 42

P

Page 81 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROTECT AND PROMOTE NEIGHBORHOODS43

impact analysis to mitigate impacts to neighborhoods 
and provide “just compensation” for property acquired 
from landowners, the City should adopt a policy on direct 
and indirect displacement, which would require, first of 
all, that the City and affiliated public agencies conduct 
a housing or displacement impact assessment for public 
projects that receive $15 million or more in public funds. 
The assessment will be conducted by a third-party to 
evaluate the potential impacts on housing affordability, 
direct and indirect displacement, and the hardship that 
a plan, project, or policy might have on the surrounding 
area if it is built or implemented. Based on the findings of 
this assessment, projects must demonstrate how they will 
prevent displacement and mitigate other impacts to low-
income households, including their approach to ensuring 
proper access to rapid re-housing services and the plan 
for preserving or creating affordable housing options, 
and how these efforts will be funded. Key to the success 
of this assessment must be an emphasis on preventing 
displacement in all cases, and on supporting persons 
through their relocation to long-term stable housing, if 
displacement does result from the project.

  2. Strategy: Create a fund to mitigate the impacts 
of displacement including: providing relocation 
assistance for households up to 80 percent AMI, 
rapid re-housing, and housing navigators.

The City should also establish a budget line item to 
support a Risk Mitigation Fund to assist and support low-
income households. This fund should include resources 
for efforts including, but not limited to, a relocation 
assistance package that includes rapid re-housing and 
housing navigation services provided by trained housing 
navigators/counselors who can provide individualized case 
management to ensure residents understand their housing 
rights and have access to a range of supportive resources. 

Cities like San Antonio that are struggling to control, 
prevent and mitigate the negative impacts of 
displacement are also looking beyond public resources. 
With newly-dedicated resources from the city budget 

and a diversity of funds as a reality, the City should also 
align itself strategically with business community and 
philanthropic partners in this effort to holistically address 
and combat the threat of displacement. 

Such a fund with additional partnerships would ensure 
proper ongoing support and funding to help working 
families with social support, advice, and navigation 
through their challenges. The fund could also be used 
to offer emergency financial assistance to renter 
households facing an adverse event or displacement 
for rent and relocation costs. It should further be 
expanded for landlords and property owners of rental 
properties who would like to protect their tenants from 
displacement pressures. 

Furthermore, the City should immediately develop 
guidelines for eligible residence and the level of support 
to be granted, for which a process is already underway. 
The City should also establish guidelines and requirements 
for conducting periodic assessments of housing 
vulnerability, the results of which would inform how 
and where resources could be deployed to prevent 
displacement, including use of housing navigators.

  3. Strategy: Fund proactive outreach and counseling 
to low- and moderate-income households 
experiencing housing vulnerability.

Taking care of community means taking care of its most 
vulnerable neighbors. The MHPTF process identified 
proactive community engagement as a critical tool for 
creating a compassionate housing system. The City must 
invest funds and other resources to reach San Antonians 
who do not, or cannot, normally engage with the City, 
but who are most in need of the housing services that 
the City and its non-profit and private-sector partners 
provide. This means, in part, funding proactive outreach 
and counseling to households that are experiencing 
housing vulnerability so they are better prepared to deal 
with market changes. Outreach and counseling should 
be conducted by trained housing Navigators, based on 

Community Land Trusts (CLT) are nonprofit, 
community-based organizations designed to 
ensure community stewardship of land. They can 
be used for many types of development, including 
commercial and retail, but are used primarily 
to ensure long-term housing affordability. To 
accomplish this, CLTs acquire land, develop it with 
housing or a mix of uses, and maintain long-term 
ownership of the land through a lease instead of 
traditional sale. When a homeowner sells, the family 
earns a portion of the increased property value, and 
the remainder returns to the CLT, which ensures 
that the home remains in long-term affordability.

COMMUNITY LAND TRUSTS

The Lower Income Voucher Equity Program (LIVE 
Denver) is a two-year pilot program built through 
and funded by public-private partnerships to create 
immediate affordable housing options by leveraging 
multiple resources. The program is designed to align 
vacant rental units with working families and individual 
units with leveraged public, private, and foundation 
funding to meet affordable housing needs. With the 
primary goals to expand immediate affordability and 
access to quality housing for the city’s workforce, this 
program is one of the numerous tools being used 
to address housing affordability in the City’s 5-Year 
Housing Strategy. 

BUSINESS COMMUNITY LEVERAGE 
(DENVER)

S

S

Page 82 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROTECT AND PROMOTE NEIGHBORHOODS 44

CASE STUDY  |  Public Education: Faith Leaders Work Together for Affordable Housing

A broad-based initiative is bringing together a diverse group of 23 faith leaders from among San Antonio’s Catholic, 
Protestant, Jewish, Muslim and Sikh communities to wrestle with and find solutions for homelessness, affordable housing, 
and gentrification. This group, called the San Antonio Religious Leadership and Civic Engagement Project, is a new 
interfaith effort founded on the idea that when faith leaders speak together for the benefit of the community, the City and 
its officials will hear the message and act in the people’s interests. 

Growing out of a New York University study called the Religious Leadership and Civic Engagement Project, this effort 
was initiated in February 2018 and is spearheaded by Rabbis Samuel Stahl and Steve Gutow. It has engaged leaders like 
Archbishop Gustavo Garcia-Siller, Father Lawrence Christian, Rev. Les Hollon, Minister Max Lucado, Rev. David McNitzky, 
Rev. Ann Helmke, Rabbi Mara Nathan, Rev. Patrick Gahan, Rev. Beth Knowlton, Rev. Bob Fuller, Imam Omar Shakir, Sikh 
leader G. P. Singh, Lukin Gilliland, Jr. (a San Antonio business leader), and many others.

“One of the largest assets of any community is the faith community. We can make some really important changes and 
movement,” states the Rev. Ann Helmke, faith liaison for the City of San Antonio. 
 
At their May 30 meeting at Assumption Seminary, the group met with representatives from the MHPTF and discussed the 
campaign plan with a timeline for implementation in the fall of 2018. They are ardently committed to bringing faith into 
the commonweal of San Antonio as a unifying and enriching force.

“The key to this project is the doing,” says Rabbi Gutow. “The core idea is to bring together all the actors and do things 
they all believe in together.”

the community health worker/Promotora model used 
effectively by the Metropolitan Health District. Services 
offered should include rapid re-housing case management 
that addresses all the needs of individuals and families 
experiencing housing insecurity; support for rental and 
owner-occupied housing rehabilitation, including zoning 
and land use systems education; financial education; and 
asset-building information, including tax appraisal appeals 
education. The overarching goals of successfully engaging 
communities in the City housing system is to help tenants 
and property owners improve their financial stability and 
economic mobility, and to create a living environment that 
promotes good health and enhances quality of life.

  Policy Priority: Reduce housing discrimination and 
expand opportunity.

Housing discrimination, though often in more subtle 
forms, and a high level of segregation in the city’s housing 
market by economic status, race and ethnicity has a 
host of negative impacts on residents and the regional 
economy, hampering opportunity. San Antonio cannot 
make significant progress on its commitment to be a 
compassionate city without addressing these fair housing 
matters: discrimination and persistent segregation. 

To expand opportunity and ensure access, there is a 
pressing need not only to produce and preserve housing 

P

Page 83 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROTECT AND PROMOTE NEIGHBORHOODS45

CASE STUDY  |  Owner Occupied Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Program

It is often said that the most affordable home is the one you already have. Unfortunately, many lower- or fixed-income 
homeowners in San Antonio must often choose between filling prescriptions and paying utility bills or replacing a leaking 
roof. The reality is that if roof repairs are put off too long, more widespread damage will occur. And to acknowledge 
the reality that much of our older housing stock lacks weatherproofing, insulation, and energy efficient systems and 
appliances, the City offers several programs for qualifying homeowners in need of assistance. These include Under One 
Roof, Owner-Occupied Rehab, and Minor Repair programs. 

The 60-year old home pictured here belongs to Elaine Garza, a single mother of two who utilized the Owner-Occupied 
Rehab program to make critical home repairs that brought her home up to current building code standards. A new “cool” 
roof, a new highly efficient central air system, weatherization, plumbing upgrades/repairs, and other improvements have 
dramatically increased the family’s quality of life. The repairs have also cut the family’s water bill in half and cut their 
electric bill to less than $150 per month from $400 to $500. For Elaine Garza, this has meant a dramatic increase in her 
family’s buying power and economic mobility. 

affordable to households across the entire income 
spectrum in areas with access to jobs, quality schools 
and health care resources, but also to educate and raise 
awareness of the fair housing laws that protect individuals, 
often in underserved communities, against all forms of 
housing discrimination. 

The Housing Act of 1968 and the Amendments of 1988 
prohibit discrimination on the basis of race or color, 
religion, national origin, familial status or age, disability 
or sex. In addition to the protections guaranteed by 
the Fair Housing Act, the City can extend housing 
protections further to include other groups and prioritize 
affordable housing.

  1. Strategy: Implement a citywide public education 
and outreach campaign about the importance 
of housing.

To increase public awareness and understanding of the 
importance of housing as an economic and social health 
component of a community, as well as to sustain the 
increased public investment in housing, there will be 
a need for ongoing education and outreach regarding 

housing issues. Vocal opposition to the production of 
affordable housing is commonplace in communities 
struggling to address these needs and often rooted in a 
misunderstanding or misperception of the people who live 
in affordable housing. 

The City should implement a citywide public awareness 
campaign on Fair Housing Laws and the importance of 
affordable housing including its economic and social 
benefits. Transparent and well-organized planning 
processes that acknowledge community concerns and 
points of conflict allow residents to work through them in 
an equitable way are important. 

This effort will need to be undertaken in partnership 
with diverse constituencies, including but not limited 
to neighborhood associations, chambers of commerce, 
the San Antonio Apartment Association, San Antonio 
Board of Realtors and community-based nonprofits. 
Examples of a citywide education campaign could include 
exploring strategic ways to reduce income discrimination 
or facilitating an increase in the number of landlords and 
property owners that accept Housing Choice Vouchers. 

S

Page 84 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



ENSURE ACCOUNTABILITY 
TO THE PUBLIC

Page 85 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



ENSURE ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE PUBLIC

ENSURE ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE PUBLIC47

A

The concept of an oversight or advisory body is valued 
deeply by many communities seeking to guide and 
implement comprehensive housing policies to address 
everything from homelessness and vulnerable populations 
to workforce housing and the delivery of services. The 
composition of an advisory body usually reflects the 
depth and complexity of the issues in its mandate to 
address. The City needs to be accountable for where 
its own policies may be standing in the way, and where 
they may be leading to discrimination or displacement, 
unintended housing availability or affordability challenges. 
This recommendation is intended to create a layer of 
public accountability for the City and its partners in the 
coordinated housing system to ensure that the public 
not only has a mechanism through which its voice can be 
heard, but that there is also a mechanism through which 
there can be constructive and meaningful dialogue with 
the City and its partners.

  Policy Priority: Create a governance structure for 
oversight and public engagement.

Mirroring the importance of a coordinated system from 
a structural perspective should be an equally structured 
framework of accountability to ensure that oversight and 
public engagement are an inseparable component of 
housing delivery. 

  1. Strategy: Redefine the Housing Commission 
as a public oversight board to guide the 
implementation of the MHPTF’s recommendations 
and engage the public.

Through the MHPTF process, a strong conviction 
surfaced regarding the presence of an oversight body in 
San Antonio: that is, that too many new commissions and 
oversight boards would simply muddy the waters. So, to 
strengthen the Housing Commission and capture 
the newly-created momentum of this process, the 
City should comprehensively redefine and reconstitute 
this oversight body and give it appropriate authority 
to independently guide the implementation of the 
MHPTF’s recommendations.

Specifically, it is recommended that the Housing 
Commission have nine members, five of whom should be 
selected to represent the people of San Antonio, and four 
of whom should be filled by the CEO/ Executive Director 
of the following organizations: San Antonio Housing 
Authority; San Antonio Housing Trust; San Antonio 
Economic Development Foundation; and the Housing 
Executive to be established in the City Manager’s Office. 
As for the five community members, they should have a 
history of engagement on housing and neighborhood-

related issues as well as the stature necessary to hold 
elected officials and City staff accountable for the 
implementation of the report. 

These members should also be at-large appointments, 
nominated by the Mayor and approved by the 
Council. The Mayor should appoint the Chair of the 
Housing Commission from among its members, and 
the Commission would have a process for inclusive 
and ongoing engagement with the public. The 
Housing Commission should also receive staffing and 
administrative support from NHSD.

  2. Strategy: Develop an annual report to track and 
publicly report results of the full housing system, 
including but not limited to: unit production, cost 
burden, preservation, rehabilitation, leverage and 
rental production for 0 to 30 percent AMI and 30 to 
60 percent AMI.

The Housing Commission should also guide and carry 
out a transparent, data-driven, third-party assessment 
to determine whether the City is meeting its goals, 
potentially benchmarking efforts against peer cities, 
and ensuring accountability in the implementation 
of all aspects of this report. Such a report, utilizing 
data collected through a comprehensive digital data 
management portal, would define metrics to be tracked, 
such as the total investment by program by source of 
funds, the number of new units produced by location and 
income level, the number of tax credit units preserved, the 
number of homes rehabilitated by location and income 
level, and the range of affordability metrics collected 
and analyzed through this process, among others. The 
Housing Commission should also track such metrics in 
a collaborative manner with other publicly-accessible 
efforts, such as SA2020, to remain accountable.

S

S

P

Page 86 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN

Page 87 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN49

Investing in affordable housing strengthens our local 
economy, promoting job growth, boosting families’ 
incomes and spurring more development. This 10-year 
funding plan is rooted in the conviction that with 
significant public funds leveraged with even greater 
private resources, the City can meaningfully impact and 
materially prevent its housing affordability problems from 
getting worse. That is, the main objective is to deploy 
resources aimed not only at producing more affordable 
housing to address targeted needs by income level and 
minimize or mitigate the impacts of displacement, but also 
at strategically rehabilitating housing and neighborhoods 
such that future displacement is prevented. 

As documented by the problem statements in this report, 
the City should anticipate that its housing inventory gap 
(the supply-demand imbalance) for households critical to 
the city’s workforce will increase by another 29,600 units 
over the next decade. As such, the subsequent objectives 
of this plan are to: 1) flatten the curve of that projected 
housing inventory gap over the next 10 years; and 2) slow 
the escalation of household overspending (cost-burden) 
and positively impact the region’s GRP. 

Source of Funds 

This 10-year plan proposes $485 million in new General 
Fund dollars, $250 million in two separate 5-year 
General Obligation Bonds, assuming requisite City 
Charter amendments into affordable housing production, 
rehabilitation, and preservation. It also recapitalizes more 
than $308 million of these funds into a revolving loan 
fund, estimated to support an additional $113 million. 
Simultaneously, the plan leverages approximately $133 
million in City fee waivers and a 10-year cumulative $58 
million in property tax exemptions on the City’s portion of 
property tax (0.558 percent) for the units produced. 

Investing just over $1.0 billion in public and recapitalized 
funds would leverage between $2.1 billion and $4.2 
billion in private funds, generating a total investment 
in affordable housing for San Antonio of $3.1 billion to 
$5.2  billion for affordable housing. Each dollar invested 
in affordable housing infrastructure boosts our local 
economy by leveraging public and private resources to 
lift resident earnings and local tax revenue, as well as 
to support job creation and retention. This $1.0 billion 
investment is but a small fraction of the $25 billion in 
revenue that the City will generate over the same period.  

Allocation of Funds 

Rental

Based on the needs documented through this process 
and in this report, 76 percent ($644 million) would be 

10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN

$500,000,000

$1,000,000,000

$1,500,000,000

$2,000,000,000

$2,500,000,000

$3,000,000,000

$3,500,000,000

$4,000,000,000

$0

Source of Funds

Leveraged Funds - $2,831,500,000

Property Tax Exemption - $58,590,959

City Fee Waivers - $133,362,665

Recapitalized Revolving Loan Fund - $112,958,160

Housing Bond Issue - $250,000,000

General Fund - $485,000,000

Leveraged funds consists mainly of private dollars, 
but also assumes some state and federal investment, 
such as HOME and CDBG. Assumes loan-to-value 
ratio of 75%/25% for owner and rental production 
projects, down payment assistance, as well as rental 
rehabilitation and preservation projects.

Page 88 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN 50

directed toward rental housing production inclusive of 
supportive housing ($406 million), rehabilitation and 
preservation ($225 million), risk mitigation ($3.2 million) 
and displacement prevention ($9.7 million). While there 
are dollars specifically allocated to the Risk Mitigation 
Fund and Displacement, the City’s real approach to 
displacement prevention, however, ideally leverages the 
$225 million in rehabilitation and preservation dollars, 
which should be used to target rental properties in 
need of repair, rehabilitation, and preservation in parts 
of the city facing or anticipated to face redevelopment 
before families become displaced. It is envisioned that 
approximately 50 percent of these dollars would be 
loaned to and repaid (into the revolving loan fund) by 
landlords/owners of rental properties at below-market 
rates on the condition that they maintain the affordability 
level of their properties. The dollars allocated to the Risk 
Mitigation Fund and Displacement are for the purpose of 
mitigating displacement that has already occurred and 
minimizing its impact on families and individuals.

Ownership 

Fifteen (15) percent ($127 million) would be directed 
toward ownership housing production inclusive of 
supportive housing ($44.5 million), rehabilitation 
and preservation ($50.9 million), and down payment 
assistance ($31.8 million). Similar to the utilization of 
rehabilitation dollars for rental housing, it is envisioned 
that a majority of the $50.9 million allocated to owner 
rehabilitation and preservation should be deployed in 
targeted neighborhoods to prevent the loss of affordable 

inventory and prevent the loss of stable communities. 
It is assumed that only a small portion of these funds 
would be offered in the form of loans, for the purpose of 
recapitalizing the revolving loan fund. It is also assumed 
that 100 percent of the funds used for down payment 
assistance would be in the form of second mortgages and 
repayable into the revolving loan fund. 

Administration, Housing and Services

As articulated in the MHPTF’s first of five overarching 
recommendations, making housing a priority requires that 
it be a structural and organizational priority. Essential to 
strengthening the fundamental structures that facilitate 
housing delivery will be increased leadership, staffing and   
resources dedicated to the City’s organizational structure. 
To facilitate that policy priority, 8 percent ($68 million) 
should be directed toward NHSD over 10 years to add 
the staff and tools necessary for the department to be 
more productive, efficient and successful. This means 
also enabling NHSD to play the strategic role of 
coordinating and leveraging investments of the public 
and private sectors. 

One (1) percent ($8.5 million) would be directed 
specifically toward capacity building and housing and 
supportive services in the community. These funds would 
be used strategically to fund efforts aimed at building 
the private nonprofit sector’s capacity to deliver units 
and/or services to vulnerable populations, those facing 
or anticipating facing displacement, conducting inclusive 
public processes related to by-right zoning or UDC 

Use of Funds

Administration (NHSD)
$67,836,653

Rental Housing
$644,448,202

Production: $406 million
Rehabilitation/Preservation: $225 million
Risk Mitigation Fund: $3.2 million
Displacement: $9.7 million

Housing and Services
$8,479,582

Capacity Building: $3.4 million
Housing & Supportive Services: $5.1 million

Ownership Housing
$127,193,724

Production: $44.5 million
Rehabilitation/Preservation: $50.9 million
Down Payment Assistance: $31.8 million

Page 89 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN51

ALLOCATIONS

Funds ($) 1 as % Units (#) as %

OWNERSHIP HOUSING

  Production $44,517,803 5.3% 2,342 12.5%

    Sweat Equity Model $22,258,902 2.6% 1,089 5.8%

    Average Cost of Construction Model $22,258,902 2.6% 1,253 6.7%

  Rehabilitation $50,877,490 6.0% 2,314 12.4%

  Down Payment Assistance $31,798,431 3.8% 1,643 8.8%

   Ownership Housing 
as % of Ownership Housing $127,193,724 15.0% 3,957 21.2%

RENTAL HOUSING

  Production $406,002,367 47.9% 8,498 45.5%

  Rehabilitation/Preservation $225,556,871 26.6% 3,884 20.8%

  Risk Mitigation Fund $3,222,241 0.4% 0 0.0%

  Displacement $9,666,723 1.1% 0 0.0%

   Rental Housing 
as % of Rental Housing $644,448,202 76.0% 12,382 66.3%

ADMINISTRATION (NHSD) $67,836,653 8.0% n/a n/a

HOUSING AND SERVICES $8,479,582 1.0% n/a n/a

  Capacity Building $3,391,833 0.4% n/a n/a

  Housing and Supportive Services $5,087,749 0.6% n/a n/a

  Housing and Services $8,479,582 1.0% n/a n/a

   Total Uses 
as % of Total Housing $847,958,160 100.0% 18,681 100.0%

Housing Units Produced, Preserved or Rehabilitated

1. Due to rounding, some subtotals and totals may not reconcile. Source: Economic & Planning Systems

Program Level Use of Funds and Unit Production

Rental Rehabilitation/Preservation
3,884

Ownership Rehabilitation
2,314

Ownership Down Payment Assistance
1,643

Rental Production
8,498

Ownership Production
2,342

Page 90 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN 52

revisions, as well as supporting public outreach efforts and 
campaigns to educate the public on the importance of 
affordable housing to economic development. 

Production 
Leveraging up to $4 billion in additional private 
investment, the City would produce nearly 18,700 units 
of rental and ownership housing at targeted income 
levels. Based on the anticipated loss of 29,600 affordable 
housing units in the City’s supply-demand balance over 
the next 10 years, this level of production would be 
enough to avoid more than 60 percent of that entire 
projected supply-demand gap. 

Rental

The portion of funds dedicated to building affordable 
rental housing units would produce an estimated 8,500 
units, and the portion dedicated to rehabilitation and 
preservation would serve potentially to prevent the 
displacement of 3,900 households and preserve the 
affordability of their units. While not specifically estimated 
to “produce” units, dollars set aside for the Risk Mitigation 
Fund and Displacement could mitigate and minimize the 
impacts of displacement for hundreds or thousands of 
families over 10 years.

Ownership

It is estimated that the funds dedicated to affordable 
ownership housing would produce a little over 2,300 units. 
As with funds dedicated to rehabilitation and preservation 
for rental housing, these dollars would also serve 
potentially to prevent the displacement of approximately 
2,300 low- and moderate-income, elderly, or vulnerable 
population households from their homes in areas facing 
or targeted for redevelopment pressure. A down payment 
assistance fund, which would be offered to first-time 
homebuyers in the form of second mortgages at below-
market rates, would facilitate approximately 1,600 home 
purchases for moderate-income households. 

Affordability Levels
Most important, however, to addressing the needs of 
the city’s residents, is the distribution of funds by 
income level.

Ownership Housing

In the production, rehabilitation and preservation of 
affordable ownership housing, more than 3,500 units are 
created serving the needs of households between 60 
and 80 percent AMI, and nearly 2,800 units are produced 
and/or rehabilitated for households between 80 and 120 
percent AMI.

Rental Housing

As shown in the graphic to the left, funding for critical 
income levels would produce approximately 1,700 units 
of rental housing for households at or below 30 percent 
AMI; more than 9,500 units for households between 30 
to 60 percent AMI, and nearly 1,200 units for households 
between 60 to 80 percent AMI.

Rental Unit Production, Rehabilitation, 
and Preservation

Production
8,498 units

Rehabilitation/ 
Preservation
3,884 units

Ownership Unit Production, Rehabilitation, and 
Preservation by AMI

60%-80% AMI
3,532 units

80%-120% AMI
2,766 units

Ownership Unit Production, Rehabilitation, 
and Preservation

Production
2,342 units

Rehabilitation
2,314 units

Down Payment 
Assistance
1,643 units

Rental Unit Production, Rehabilitation, and 
Preservation by AMI

60%-80% AMI
1,165 units

Less than 30% AMI
1,701 units

30%-60% AMI
9,516 units

Page 91 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Economic Impact
Not only does the production, rehabilitation and 
preservation of nearly 18,700 units over 10 years mean 
that more than 60 percent of the projected loss in the 
affordable housing supply-demand balance is avoided, it 
means that households that would have suffered from cost 
burden might avoid such a financial constraint entirely. 

With monthly cost-burden in the city projected to increase 
from approximately $330 per household per month to 
at least $380 by 2028, it can also be estimated that the 
impact of cost-burden avoidance, cumulatively, would be 
more than $424 million by 2028. That means that by the 
tenth year of this funding plan, cumulative public-private 
investments will be responsible for reducing the overall 
cost-burden of San Antonio’s households by nearly 10 
percent per year ($86 million). This also means that those 
dollars saved can recirculate in the local and regional 
economy to a greater extent, supporting and creating 
thousands of additional jobs, elevating the city’s economy 
(GRP), and its quality of life.

Availability of Funds and Monitoring 

It is estimated that nearly 100 percent of the $771 million 
allocated to production, rehabilitation and preservation 
of affordable ownership and rental housing would be 
made competitively available to its community private 
and nonprofit partners over this time period. Ideally, the 
City and its partners would hold funding rounds, such 
as Requests for Information (RFI) or Proposals (RFP) 
or Notices of Funding Availability (NOFA) at the same 
time each year. Through a competitive and transparent 
award process, not unlike the funding rounds it currently 
conducts for CDBG and/or HOME funds, the City could 
maintain and monitor its progress toward achieving the 
goals spelled out in this report. 

Assumptions
This funding plan is based on the MHPTF’s best estimate 
of gap closure costs by tenure and by income level, 
using documented development costs and gap closure 
requirements for different purposes (i.e. production versus 
rehabilitation/preservation) and at different income levels. 
While all efforts have been made to realistically estimate 
how funds can be used, leveraged, and recapitalized, the 
MHPTF believes that the City should undertake a more in-
depth analysis of how it can achieve these funding levels 
and production targets over the next 10 years with a more 
specific and detailed analysis of sources and uses at a 
project level.

Gap Closure

Overall, use of these funds represents an average public 
investment of approximately $45,000 per unit. One of the 
major overarching assumptions of this model was that 
competitive 9 percent LIHTC awards will not be available 
as a source of funding for the production targets in this 
funding plan. This funding plan assumes that private 
activity bonds (4 percent LIHTC awards), City fee waivers, 
and property tax exemptions should be achieved to 

warrant these gap closure factors. They were developed 
differently for ownership and rental housing products, and 
they were also escalated at 3 percent per year over the 
10 years to represent the escalation of construction costs 
over time.

Ownership

1. 60 to 80 percent AMI (production): this factor is based 
on the Habitat “sweat equity” model, which assumes 
a cost of construction of $145,000, City fee waivers of 
$11,000, and a maximum affordable purchase price for the 
target household of $116,400 (80 percent AMI). The gap 
closure factor is estimated to be $17,600 per unit. 

2. 80 to 120 percent AMI (production): this factor is 
based on the average-cost-of-construction model, which 
assumes a construction cost of $180,000, fee waivers of 
$11,000 per unit, and a maximum affordable purchase 
price for the target household of $153,700 (100 percent 
AMI). The gap closure factor is estimated to be $15,300 
per unit. 

3. Down payment assistance: it is assumed that down 
payment assistance loans are made to households at 60 
to 80 percent AMI of approximately $17,500 (15 percent 
of affordable purchase price) and to households at 80 to 
120 percent AMI of approximately $15,400 (10 percent of 
affordable purchase price).

Rental

4. Less than 30 percent AMI (production): assuming a deal 
structure with relatively low land costs, private activity 
bonds, City fee waivers, and property tax exemptions 
for 15 years, the per-unit gap closure factor is assumed 
at $58,000 in order to bring 20 percent of units to 30 
percent AMI. 

5. 30 to 60 percent AMI (production): assuming a 
similar deal structure with relatively low land costs, 
private activity bonds, City fee waivers, and property tax 
exemptions for 15 years, the per-unit gap closure factor 
is assumed at $37,500 to bring make 100 percent of units 
affordable at 60 percent AMI. 

Rehabilitation

6. Renter and Owner: based on developers and affordable 
housing practitioner experience, rehabilitation per-unit 
factors range between $30,000 and $80,000, depending 
on degree of structural rehab that needs to be done. All 
owner and rental housing rehabilitation/ preservation 
factors were assumed to be $50,000 per unit.

While success of this 10-year funding plan hinges on a 
number of major quantifiable assumptions that can be 
studied and assessed in greater detail and specificity, 
the magnitude of success of this funding plan could 
also increase if other more qualitative investments 
are successful over time, such as investments made to 
augment the skills and readiness of construction labor, or 
the development and availability of alternative building 
materials. In the case of the latter, if alternative and 
especially less expensive building materials or techniques 
are developed at scale, the dollars the City invests in this 
funding plan could go farther.

10-YEAR FUNDING PLAN53 Page 92 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Page 93 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Prepared By
Mayor’s Housing Policy Task Force and Economic & Planning Systems

in collaboration with:
City of San Antonio 

National Association of Latino 
Community Asset Builders

Local Initiatives Support 
Corporation San Antonio 

Ximenes & Associates

Page 94 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



The Economics of Land Use

Oakland Sacramento Denver Los Angeles

730 17th Street, Suite 630 § Denver, CO 80202
303.623.3557 § www.epsys.com

 

CITY OF 
SAN ANTONIO

RECALIBRATION OF CITY’S 
10-YEAR HOUSING TARGETS

PRESENTED BY:

DAVID SCHWARTZ, PRINCIPAL

ECONOMIC & PLANNING SYSTEMS
HOUSING COMMISSION– JUNE 24, 2020

Page 95 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  2

OVERVIEW

1. Strategic Housing Implementation Plan

2. Current Housing Targets

3. Recalibrating Need
1. Refined Process
2. Human Need
3. Location Data

4. Setting Target Goals
1. Meeting future need
2. Targets by program

Page 96 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



STRATEGIC HOUSING IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

Page 97 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Our Vision: “A comprehensive and compassionate housing policy framework that allow(s) residents to live 
with dignity, age in place, rehabilitate their housing, and preserve the integrity of their neighborhoods”

• The “Why”
• Accepted by Council 2018
• Created Framework
• Identified Need and High-level Policy 

Areas of Focus

Strategic 
Housing 
Implementation 
Plan

• The “How”
• Set target goals
• Identify Strategies to Reach Them
• Adopt to Implement

Page 98 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



PROJECTED TIMELINE

5

Define Goals

• Housing Commission
• Stakeholder sessions

Create Framework

• Key strategies
• Stakeholder sessions

Approval by 
agencies

Implement strategies 
to achieve

Track and measure 
targets

June/July 
2020

July/August 
2020

August/September 
2020

Community & Stakeholder InputPage 99 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



CURRENT HOUSING TARGETS

Page 100 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Owner Occupied (6,299 Units) Renter Occupied Units (12,382 Units)

18,681 Affordable Units Needed Over the Next 10 Years 7
Page 101 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



8

Rental Unit Production, Rehabilitation, and Preservation by AMI

AMI Range 10 Year Goal Pre-Closing/ 
Closed

% of 10 Year 
Goal Met

Pipeline

≤30% 1,701 units 1,740 units 102% 152 units

31%-50% 6,344 units 870 units 14% 382 units

51%-60% 3,172 units 5,310 units 167% 953 units

61%-80% 1,165 units 2,439 units 209% 1,017 units

Totals 12,382 units 10,359 units 2,504 units

Page 102 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



9

Ownership Unit Production, Rehabilitation, and Preservation by AMI

AMI Range 10 Year Goal Pre Closing/ 
Closed

% of 10 Year 
Goal Met

Pipeline

≤80% 3,532 units 828 units 23% 196 units

81%-120% 2,767 units 310 units 11% 1,678 units

Totals 6,299 units 1,138 units 34% 1,874 units

Page 103 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



RECALIBRATING NEED

Page 104 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  11

HOW DO YOU CALCULATE NEED?

Cost-burdened households as starting point 

– Those spending more than 30% of income on housing
– Common metric, not refined or able to answer questions including:

2. What populations are most at-risk, vulnerable, have greatest need?

– Guided by analysis and understanding HPF
– Builds in other research and best practices, e.g. the Area Deprivation Index, 

Opportunity Atlas indexing, etc.

3. Where is housing needed?

4. What types of housing are needed?

DATA & GUIDING QUESTIONS

Page 105 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  12

STRATEGIC HOUSING IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
TEAM

▪ City Departments involved in housing
– Neighborhood & Housing Services
– Planning 
– Development Services
– Historic Preservation
– Human Services
– Mayors Office
– Center City

▪ Housing Partners
– San Antonio Housing Trust*
– San Antonio Housing Authority*
– LISC San Antonio
– South Alamo Regional Alliance for 

Homeless
– Housing Commission Chair* 

(Lourdes/Jessica)

▪ VIA*

▪ Bexar County

▪ Bexar County Housing Authority

▪ Office of Sustainability

▪ Office of Equity

▪ CPS/SAWS

▪ Archdiocese 

▪ Area Foundation

▪ Bexar County Health Collaborative

▪ Nonprofit/for-profit developers

▪ Finance/Banking 

DEFINING THE NEED : ADDITIONAL PERSPECTIVES :

*Housing Commission representative 

Page 106 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



13

Cost Burdened Households
(pays more than 30% of income on housing)

Supply Demand Imbalances
(identifying those with the greatest need)

Cost Burdened Households
(pays more than 30% of income on housing)

Housing Policy Framework

• Not letting the problem get worse

1. 1.

2.

3.

Recalibration

Where is the need?
(location based data – “where”)

What types of housing is needed
(vulnerable populations – “who”)

4.

• Address existing and future need
• Addresses where and whoPage 107 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  14

DISPARITY INDEX (SUPPLY & DEMAND)

▪  

QUANTITATIVE HOUSING NEED BY AMI, TENURE, CENSUS TRACT

Page 108 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  15

DISPARITY INDEX
RENTER INDEX FOR 30-50% AMI OWNER INDEX FOR 30-50% AMI

Page 109 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  16

VULNERABILITY INDEX (SOCIAL 
VULNERABILITIES)

▪ Percent Population w/ < H.S. Educ.

▪ Percent Population w/ Any Disability

▪ Ratio of Households (imbalance of rich and 
poor) < 50% AMI vs Households >120% AMI 
Percent

▪ Population 18+ Unemployed

▪ Percent of All Households who are 
Cost-Burdened

▪ Percent of Population who Served in Military

▪ Overcrowding in Rental Inventory

▪ Percent Senior Population

▪ Race / Ethnicity

IDENTIFYING THE HUMAN NEEDS

Page 110 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  17

QUANTITATIVE HOUSING NEED
OWNER/RENTER; INCOME LEVEL; REGIONAL CENTERS

Page 111 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  18

QUALITATIVE ASPECTS
WITH VULNERABILITY FACTORS BY REGIONAL CENTER

Page 112 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



SETTING TARGET GOALS

Page 113 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  20

PROJECTED NEED

MOST VULNERABLE:10-YEAR PROJECTION

Page 114 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  21

GOAL TO ADDRESS CURRENT & FUTURE NEED

▪ Set goal based on meeting the 
current need 

– Allows us to have more ambitious 
targets than HPF

– Begins to reduce overall need 
(current and future)

▪ Considerations
– Time horizon needs to balance 

feasibility and funding
– Begins discussion on coordination 

and funding
– Goals can be readjusted in the future 

50% OVER 10 YEARS ≈ 47,000 UNITS

2.5x
Page 115 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  22

ADDRESSING CURRENT & FUTURE NEED

HOUSING POLICY FRAMEWORK RECALIBRATION

Flatten the Curve Lower the Need

Page 116 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  23

NEEDS MET BY AMI
HPF (10-YEAR) RECALIBRATION (10-YEAR)

Page 117 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  24

TARGETS BY PROGRAM
HPF (10-YEAR) RECALIBRATION (10-YEAR) 2.6x

Page 118 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  25

TARGETS BY AMI
HPF (10-YEAR) RECALIBRATION (10-YEAR)

Page 119 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  26

TARGETS BY PROGRAM AS %
HPF (10-YEAR) RECALIBRATION (10-YEAR)

Page 120 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  27

TARGETS BY YEAR
ANNUAL (4,769 UNITS / YEAR)

Program 
Type

Annual 
Target

Current 
Rate

Owner Prod. 171 65

Owner 
Rehab/Pres.

1,845 610

Owner
DPA

107 170

Rental Prod. 1,833 1,000 (4 & 
9%)

Rental 
Rehab/Pres.

813 Same as 
above

2.5x

3.0x

0.6x

2.6x

Page 121 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  28

NEXT STEPS

▪ Reach consensus on target goals
– Housing Commission Feedback
– SHIP Team

▪ Begin outreach/input from community members and stakeholders
– Residents and community advocates
– Affordable housing providers and funders
– Developers and real estate community
– Affordable housing regulatory and policy stakeholders

▪ Create Framework for Implementation Plan

Page 122 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



The Economics of Land Use

Oakland Sacramento Denver Los Angeles

730 17th Street, Suite 630 § Denver, CO 80202
303.623.3557 § www.epsys.com

 

CITY OF 
SAN ANTONIO

RECALIBRATION OF CITY’S 
10-YEAR HOUSING TARGETS

PRESENTED BY:

DAVID SCHWARTZ, PRINCIPAL

ECONOMIC & PLANNING SYSTEMS
HOUSING COMMISSION– JUNE 24, 2020

Page 123 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



BACK POCKET SLIDES

Page 124 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  31

REGIONAL CENTERS

▪ Phase 1 Centers:
– Downtown

– Medical Center

– UTSA

– Midtown

– Brooks

▪ Phase 2 Centers:
– NE I-35 and Loop 410

– Highway 151 and Loop 1604

– Texas A&M – San Antonio

– Port San Antonio

▪ Phase 3 Centers:
– Greater Airport Area

– Fort Sam Houston

– Rolling Oaks

– Stone Oak

SA TOMORROW

Page 125 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  32

PRODUCTION GOALS

11,000 units

550 units / year
LIHTC ≈ 800 units / year 

1,700 units

85 units / year
Habitat (Sweat Equity 
model) ≈ 60 units / year 

1,700 units

85 units / year
≈ smaller subsidy model

Page 126 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  33

REHAB/PRES. GOALS

9,900 units

495 units / year
Under One Roof 
≈ 530 units / year 1,200 units

60 units / year
Owner-Occup’d Rehab 
≈ 80 units / year 4,900 units

245 units / year
LIHTC ≈ 800 units / year 

Page 127 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  34

DPA GOALS

2,400 units

110 units / year
Current average DPA
≈ 170 units / year 

Page 128 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  35

HOUSING NEED IN CONTEXT OF PROJECTIONS

▪ Objectives
– Integrate SA Tomorrow household/housing unit projections by RC 

– Distinguish “targets” for a) market-rate housing and b) affordable housing proportions

– Distinguish “targets” for a) inside RCs and b) outside RCs

– Identify a 20-year target approximation (b/c projection period began 2010)

▪ Problems
– 1) Actual affordable targets “too large” in certain RCs (relative to SA Tomorrow projections)

– 2) Estimation of affordable targets results in large portion outside RCs

▪ Solutions
– Problem 1) Apply additional apportionment formula to the affordable targets using the distribution within 

RCs

– Problem 2) Apply additional apportionment target to the RC / non-RC goals

TECHNICAL ISSUES

Page 129 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  36

ILLUSTRATION OF TECHNICAL PROBLEM
FULL NEED VS BASELINE GROWTH PROJECTIONS

Page 130 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  37

ILLUSTRATION OF THE SOLUTION
[96,000-UNIT GOAL] AND [30-YEAR SA TOMORROW PROJECTION]

Page 131 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  38

AGAINST THE 20-YEAR PORTION OF PROJECTION
[96,000-UNIT GOAL] AND [2/3RDS OF 30-YEAR SA TOMORROW PROJECTION]

Page 132 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  39

PROGRAM ALLOCATION ASSUMPTIONS

Page 133 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  40

AREA MEDIAN INCOME (2019)
HUD AMI LEVELS (4-PERSON HH), OCCUPATION INCOMES, AFFORDABLE RENT

Construction:
$37,810 (53%)

Median$
71,000

120%
$85,200

80%
$56,800

60%
$42,600

30%
$21,300

Food Prep:  
$20,990 (30%)

Office / Admin:  
$34,050 (48%)

Nurse / Practitioner:  
$62,850 (89%)

K-8 Teachers:  
$57,000 (80%)

Engineer:  $75,380 
(118%)

$525 / mth
$945 / mth

$851/ mth

$1,400 / mth

$1,571 / mth

$1,885 / mth

50%
$35,500

Healthcare Support:  
$28,090 (40%)
$702/ mth

Community/Social 
Services:  $46,030 (65%)
$851/ mth

Page 134 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



COVID-19 IMPACTS

Page 135 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  42

COVID-19 IMPACTS
DISTRIBUTION OF UI CLAIMS – WEEK OF APRIL 18TH THROUGH WEEK OF JUNE 6TH 

Page 136 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591



Recalibration of City’s 10-Year Housing Goals |  43

EMERGENCY RENTAL REQUESTS
ERA REQUESTS (THROUGH 5/26)THROUGH 6/21

Page 137 of 137

DocuSign Envelope ID: F0F30209-7DED-4110-AA15-86AF76E75591


	1. Cover-REDC-08-20-20
	1A. Agenda-Real Estate Development Committee Meeting-08-20-20
	4. Presentation-Development Services-REDC-08-20-20
	7. Draft Development and Expansion Policy 2020-Proposed Policy-REDC-08-19-20
	8. Resolution 6069-Tampico LOC-Memo-REDC-08-20-20
	8A. Resolution 6069-Tampico LOC-REDC-08-20-20
	8B. Resolution 6069-Tampico LOC-SAHFC-08-20-20
	8C. Resolution 6069-Tampico LOC-Presentation-REDC-08-20-20
	9. Presentation-Maps of current and planned investments-REDC-08-20-20
	9A. Report-Mayor’s Affordable Housing Policy Task Report-REDC-08-20-20
	9B. Presentation-CoSA Affordable Housing Target Goals Presentation-REDC-08-20-20

		2020-08-14T07:50:39-0700
	Digitally verifiable PDF exported from www.docusign.com




